AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited
DHRMETIXEEER(SE)SRL S

(formerly known as CATIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED) (5% b Bl i 22 5 i B B 42 IR A PR A7)
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) (iR B 5iE it 7 < AR A 7l)

(Stock Code : 232) (B3 5% : 232)

v

gemw = _ EEeeE P

sEEsm-

T

L

LLLlIr Iy ' T x =&

I - 5 - e
THTIT I

T
oy

L

- ANNUAL REPORT

STt



AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited FEIfiZ TXERIZER (F#8) BRAT

14

23

35

38

39

40

42

44

48

49

130

191

Contents

Financial Highlights
Chairman’s Statement
Management Discussion and Analysis

Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

Corporate Governance Report
Report of the Directors
Independent Auditors’ Report
Audited Financial Statements
Consolidated:

Income Statement

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Cash Flows
Company:

Statement of Financial Position
Notes to Financial Statements
Five Year Financial Summary

Corporate Information

=F*

MHHE
e
EREBHBRAN
ERREEREL AR

=

BEenEx
ZAN/NTIE

BRI R
A 75 AR P AE
hEMBHHRE
NEEH



Financial Highlights
MBRE
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Overall review

The Group's consolidated results for 2009 improved substantially
in comparison with last year. In 2009, the Group recorded
turnover of HK$228,759,000 (2008: HK$260,292,000) and
profit attributable to equity holders of HK$23,772,000 (2008:
HK$1,852,000). The improvement was mainly due to the
remarkable return earned on both long term and short term
investments. Basic earnings per share amounted to HK¢0.50
(2008: HK¢0.04).

Electric and steam power supply

Zhejiang Sealand Thermoelectric Share-Holding Co. (“Zhejiang
Sealand”) is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
principally engaging in the supply of electric and steam power
in the Linping industrial region of Hangzhou in China. In
comparison with last year, the turnover of Zhejiang Sealand
decreased by 11% from HK$256,070,000 to HK$227,041,000.
Sales of steam power represented 82% of the turnover. The
sales volume of steam power for the year was 1,108,000 tonnes,
a decrease of 6% from 2008. The gross profit decreased by 6%
from HK$17,596,000 in 2008 to HK$16,626,000 in 2009. For
the year ended 31 December 2009, the electric and steam
power supply segment recorded profit of HK$6,041,000 (2008:
HK$12,016,000) and profit attributable to equity holders of
HK$5,078,000 (2008: HK$3,606,000).

Under the impact of the Global Financial Tsunami, the
consumer’'s demand for electric and steam power had not
yet recovered. This is the right time for Zhejiang Sealand to
implement thorough technical innovation and upgrade to its
equipments. The overall steam boiler’'s technical innovation
project had been completed at the end of December. The
capacity of steam boiler was increased by 60 tonnes, and the
efficiency was raised by 10% at the same time, which enhanced
reducing cost and relieving the tense supply of coal. Moreover,
Zhejiang Sealand implemented desulphurisation system project
which effectively reduce the emission of sulphur dioxide, and
as a result received government grant of HK$14,302,000 in
2009. In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standards,
this government grant has been treated as deferred income
and will be recognised as income over the estimated useful life
of the said project.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

In addition, Zhejiang Sealand continued to strengthen its
internal management and reinforce production safety in 2009.
It also strengthened its governance on monitoring receivables
with a view to further reduce the operating cost and minimise
the risk.

Project EC120

Totally 28 EC120 helicopters were sold in 2009. Turnover
amounted to HK$1,718,000 (2008: HK$4,222,000). Having
considered the profit and cashflow forecast of Project EC120,
the Group made a provision for impairment of HK$6,000,000
(2008: HK$2,500,000) against the financial assets thereunder.
For the year ended 31 December 2009, Project EC120 segment
recorded loss of HK$5,005,000 (2008: profit of HK$327,000).

Others

In 2009, besides the profit and loss from the above segments,
the Group also recorded gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investments of HK$32,122,000 (2008: HK$13,449,000), fair
value gain on equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss and derivative financial instruments of HK$11,366,000
(2008: fair value loss of HK$12,169,000), dividend income from
available-for-sale investments of HK$6,937,000 (2008: Nil),
deficit on revaluation of an investment property of HK$700,000
(2008: HK$5,900,000), and unallocated share of losses of
jointly-controlled entities and associates of HK$4,237,000
(2008: profits of HK$8,758,000).
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2010, Zhejiang Sealand will strive to boost
revenue and control expense, by increasing sales through
exploring new customers and by implementing strict cost
control measures, as well as by getting more government
grants through keeping working on energy saving and emission
reduction.

Looking ahead, the Group is confident that with the mature
management team, conservative company culture and strong
financial position, it can remain strong even in a challenging
environment. Indeed, in spite of the weak global economic
conditions, economic growth in Mainland China is expected
to remain solid over the next decades, creating enormous
investment opportunities. It is still the long term strategy of the
Group to further develop and diversify its aero-related business,
so the Group will closely monitor projects in aviation industry
and aero-related industry in China with good prospects.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation
to my fellow directors and all our staff for their support, hard
work and dedication.

By Order of the Board
Wu Guangquan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity, capital structure and financial resources

The Group has consistently maintained sufficient working
capital. As at 31 December 2009, the Group had current
assets of HK$577,641,000 (2008: HK$545,937,000), including
cash and bank balances and time deposits in an aggregate of
HK$375,530,000 (2008: HK$404,406,000). The Group's current
liabilities as at 31 December 2009 were HK$171,074,000 (2008:
HK$157,445,000).

As at 31 December 2009, the Group's equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent amounted to HK$955,455,000
(2008: HK$919,058,000), comprising issued capital of
HK$475,440,000 (2008: HK$475,440,000) and reserves of
HK$480,015,000 (2008: HK$443,618,000). The Group’'s
outstanding bank borrowing as at 31 December 2009 amounted
to HK$28,409,000 (2008: HK$29,412,000). The Group's
gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of total bank borrowings
as a percentage of equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent, was 3% (2008: 3%).

The Group’s banking facilities are mainly utilised for capital
expenditure and general working capital requirements.

Charges on the Group’s assets

Details of the charges on the Group's assets are set out in note
31(a) to the financial statements.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group’s foreign currency exposures primarily arise from
certain sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the unit’s functional currency. In view of the fact
that the Group tries to match its assets and liabilities with the
same currency, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk
is minimal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

On 4 January 2006, Sino-Aviation Investments Limited
(”Sino-Aviation Investments”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a joint venture agreement (the
“JV Agreement”) with AVIC International Holding Corporation
("AVIC International”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and Chengdu Aircraft Industry (Group) Corporation
Ltd. (“Chengdu Aircraft”), for the establishment of a joint
venture to engage in the research and development, design and
manufacture of parts and components for commercial aircraft,
and provision of related technical services. According to the
JV Agreement, the total registered capital of the joint venture
will be RMB100 million (equivalent to approximately HK$114
million), of which 40%, 15% and 45% respectively, will be
contributed by Sino-Aviation Investments, AVIC International
and Chengdu Aircraft. The JV Agreement is conditional upon
(i) the internal approval obtained by each of the three parties;
and (ii) the approvals from the relevant PRC authorities. As at
31 December 2009, the JV agreement has not become effective
as the conditions stated above have not been fulfilled.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material
acquisitions or disposals during the year.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

Details of the significant financial guarantees of the Group are
set out in note 40 to the financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2009, there were 272 (2008: 282) employees
in the Group. Staff remuneration packages are determined in
consideration of market conditions and the performance of
the individuals concerned, and are subject to review from time
to time. The Group also provides other staff benefits including
medical and life insurance, and grants discretionary incentive
bonuses and share options to eligible staff based on their
performance and contributions to the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEESEZREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wu Guangquan, aged 48, has been an Executive
Director, the Chairman, and a member and the Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company since 12 March
2010. He holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration
of Tongji University of the People’s Republic of China and is
a Senior Accountant. Mr. Wu is also the President of AVIC
International Holding Corporation (“AVIC International”),
a substantial shareholder of the Company as listed under
the section of “Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares” in the Report of
the Directors. Mr. Wu is also the General Manager of AVIC
International Shenzhen Company Limited, and, the Chairman
of the Board of Directors of Shennan Circuit Corp. and Rainbow
Department Store Holdings Co. Ltd. He has extensive experience
in finance, administration and management. Mr. Wu is also
an Executive Director, the Chairman, and a member and the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of CATIC Shenzhen
Holdings Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), and, the Chairman
of the Board of Directors of Tianma Microelectronic Company
Limited and Shenzhen Fiyta Holdings Limited, both of which are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Ji Guirong, aged 48, has been an Executive director,
a Deputy Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company since September 2001. He holds a Master’s degree in
Engineering Management and a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering
and is a Senior Engineer. Mr. Ji is responsible for the Group’s
overall management and development of corporate strategies
in relation to corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions,
project investments and diversification activities. He had served
as the Deputy Chief Economist of AVIC International and has
over 25 years of experience in engineering, corporate finance,
mergers and acquisitions, and project investments. Mr. Ji is
also a Director of CATIC Helicopter Development (Shenzhen)
Limited (“CATIC Helicopter (Shenzhen)”) and, a Director and
the Chairman of Zhejiang Sealand Thermoelectric Share-Holding
Co. ("Zhejiang Sealand”), both of which are the principal
subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a Non-executive Director
and the Chairman of Sino Gas Group Limited, an associate of
the Company, which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ji is
also a Director of Tacko International Limited ("Tacko”) and
Speed Profit Enterprises Limited (“Speed Profit”), both of which
are substantial shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Liu Rongchun, aged 56, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since April 2005. He holds a Master’s
degree in Aeronautical Engineering and, a Bachelor’'s degree
in Aeronautical Engineering and Foreign Trading, and is a
Professional Senior Engineer. Mr. Liu is also a Vice President of
AVIC International and a Director of Tacko. He has served AVIC
International since 1986 and has over 31 years of experience in
technology, policy research, sales and marketing and business
management.

Mr. Pan Linwu, aged 45, has been an Executive Director of the
Company since February 2008. He holds a Master’s degree in
Aeronautical Engineering, a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering
and a Postgraduate Diploma in Financial Accounting, and is
a Professional Senior Accountant. Mr. Pan had served at the
Ministry of Aviation Industry and the audit department of the
Ministry of Aero-Space Industry. In 1993, he was transferred
to AVIC International and had served as Deputy Director and
Director of the Audit Division. Mr. Pan has been appointed
as a Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer of AVIC
International since 2001. He is also a Director of Tacko and
an Independent Director of Shenzhen Century Plaza Hotel
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
Mr. Pan has many years experience in financial management,
supervision and audit, and has substantial experience in the area
of finance, capital operation and risk management.

Mr. Zhang Chuanjun, aged 39, joined the Company in
October 2003 as the Chief Financial Officer and has been an
Executive Director of the Company since February 2008. He
holds a Master’s degree and a Bachelor’s degree in Management
Accounting and is a Senior Accountant. Mr. Zhang is responsible
for the Group’s corporate finance, accounting and treasury
functions. He is also the Deputy Manager of the Finance
Division of AVIC International. Mr. Zhang has served AVIC
International since 1993 and has over 17 years of experience
in accounting and finance. He is also a Director of CATIC
Helicopter (Shenzhen), Zhejiang Sealand and Speed Profit.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEESEZREE

Mr. Fu Shula, aged 54, had been an Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company since May 2004, and, appointed as
a member and the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company since May 2005 until his resignation with
effect from 12 March 2010. Mr. Fu holds a Master’'s degree
in Engineering with specialization in aero-engine design and
is a Professional Senior Engineer. Mr. Fu is the Chairman of
AVIC International and a Director of Tacko. He was the Head
of Marketing and International Co-operation Division of China
Aviation Industry Corporation | and held senior positions in
AVIC International. He has served AVIC International since 1990
and has over 26 years of experience in technology, marketing,
economic business, operation and management.

Mr. Ma Zhiping, aged 53, had been an Executive Director
of the Company since January 2006 until his resignation with
effect from 10 February 2010. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Material Science and Engineering and is a Professional Senior
Engineer. Mr. Ma is also a Vice President of AVIC International.
In 1988, he was transferred to AVIC International and had
served as Associate Director of the Science and Technology
Division, Chief Representative of AVIC International in France
and Manager of the International Cooperation Division. Mr.
Ma has been a Director and the General Manager of China
National Aero-Technology Import & Export Corporation since
May 2009. He has worked in the aviation industry for many
years and has substantial experience in the area of foreign trade
and corporate management.

Mr. Wang Xinkuo, aged 61, had been an Executive Director
and a Deputy Chairman of the Company since May 2004 until
his resignation with effect from 27 March 2009. He holds
a Postgraduate Diploma in Economic Management and a
Bachelor’'s degree in Engineering and is a Senior Economist.
Mr. Wang is the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of AVIC
International and a Director of Tacko. He held senior positions
in Xian Aircraft Industry Company, CATIC Shenzhen Company
and CATIC Guangzhou Company. Mr. Wang has served AVIC
International since 2004 and has over 36 years of experience
in technology, operation and management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond, aged 57, has been a Non-
executive Director of the Company since May 1999. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and a Master of Science
degree in Business Administration. Mr. Ip is also Deputy
Managing Director of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited, an
Executive Director and Deputy Chairman of Cheung Kong
Infrastructure Holdings Limited, the Senior Vice President and
Chief Investment Officer of CK Life Sciences Int’l., (Holdings)
Inc., a Non-executive Director of ARA Asset Management
Limited (an Asian real estate fund management company
listed in Singapore), TOM Group Limited, Excel Technology
International Holdings Limited, Ruinian International Limited
and Shougang Concord International Enterprises Company
Limited, all being listed companies, and a Director of ARA Asset
Management (Fortune) Limited (formerly known as ARA Asset
Management (Singapore) Limited) as the manager of Fortune
REIT and ARA Trust Management (Suntec) Limited as the
manager of Suntec REIT. Both Fortune REIT and Suntec REIT are
listed in Singapore. He was previously a Non-executive Director
of The Ming An (Holdings) Company Limited (whose shares
were withdrawn from listing on 2 November 2009).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David, J, s8s, aged 66, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 1999. He is
also a member and the Chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr. Chu received his Master of Business Administration degree
from Harvard University after degrees in Electrical Engineering
and Management at Northeastern University and was awarded
an honorary Doctor of Public Service Degree from Northeastern
University. He is an Independent Non-executive Director of
Chuang’s China Investments Limited and Jiuzhou Development
Company Limited, both of which are companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu worked for a number of sizeable
international corporations such as Bank of America, General
Electric Co. and Jardine Matheson & Company Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEESEZREE

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, aged 55, has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since December 2007. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of
Science honours degree in Chemistry and Administration. He
is the Deputy Managing Partner of Li, Tang, Chen & Co. CPA
(Practising). Mr. Li is also a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, UK as well as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries & Administrators, UK and an Associate Member of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales. He
is an Independent Non-executive Director of China Merchants
Holdings (International) Company Limited, China-Hongkong
Photo Products Holdings Limited and Cosmopolitan International
Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Li is also an Independent Director of China Vanke Company
Limited, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li Zhaoxi, aged 62, has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since September 2004. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr.
Li holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration. He is a
Senior Research Fellow of and had served as a Deputy Director
at the Enterprise Research Institute of the Development Research
Center under the State Council of the People’s Republic of
China. Mr. Li is an Independent Director of Liaoning Hongyang
Energy Investment Share Limited Company, a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He has carried out research on
corporate reforms and management for over 25 years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Hua, aged 40, Chief Operating Officer, joined the
Group in October 2003. He is responsible for the Group’s
corporate planning, mergers and acquisitions, and project
investments. He holds a Master’s degree in Engineering and
a Bachelor's degree in Industrial Engineering and is a Senior
Economist. He has served AVIC International since 1994 and has
over 19 years of experience in engineering, corporate finance,
mergers and acquisitions and project investments. He is also a
Director of Zhejiang Sealand and Speed Profit.

Mr. Liu Binliao, aged 47, Chief Operating Officer, joined
the Group in April 2007. He is responsible for the Group's
corporate planning, project development and, import and
export trading business. He holds a Bachelor's degree in
Mechanical Engineering and Automation at Tsinghua University
and had served at the Ministry of Aviation Industry. He has
served AVIC International since 1992 and had served as Project
Manager, Chief Officer of the Imports Bureau and Chief
Officer of the Trading Section in AVIC International (HK)
Group Limited (formerly known as CATIC (H.K.) Limited), a
substantial shareholder of the Company. He has over 25 years
of experience in technical research, project management and
international trade.

Mr. Zhu Dong, aged 36, Deputy Chief Financial Officer, joined
the Group in September 2008. He is responsible for the Group’s
corporate finance, accounting and treasury functions. He holds
a Master’s degree and a Bachelor’'s degree in Management
Accounting and is a Senior Accountant. He has served AVIC
International since 1994 and has over 16 years of experience
in accounting and finance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain good standards of the
corporate governance practices by emphasizing transparency,
accountability and responsibility to its shareholders.

Throughout the year of 2009, the Company applied the
principles of, and complied with all the code provisions and,
where applicable, the recommended best practices of the
“Code on Corporate Governance Practices” (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), except for all Non-executive Directors are
appointed without specific terms, which is mentioned under
section Non-executive Directors in this report.

The Company will periodically review and improve its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development
of corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by its Directors.
A reminder is served by the Company to each Director twice
annually of the black out period that the Director cannot deal
in the securities and derivatives of the Company.

Directors are required to notify the Chief Executive Officer and
receive a dated written acknowledgement before dealing in
the securities and derivative of the Company. In the case of the
Chief Executive Officer himself, he must notify the Chairman
and receive a dated written acknowledgement before any
dealing.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards
as set out in the Model Code throughout the year.
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The Company has also established a written guidelines for
securities transaction by relevant employees (include any
employee of the Company or a director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the Company, who, because
of such office or employment, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the
Company or its securities) on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the
Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is governed by a Board of Directors which has the
responsibility for leadership and control of the Company. The
Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs.

Currently, the Board comprises five Executive Directors, including
the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman, and four Non-executive
Directors, including three Independent Non-executive Directors.
With the exception of Mr. Wu Guangquan joining the Board
as Executive Director and the Chairman on 12 March 2010,
all other existing Directors served for the whole year of 2009.
In addition, Mr. Fu Shula resigned as Executive Director and
the Chairman on 12 March 2010, Mr. Ma Zhiping resigned as
Executive Director on 10 February 2010 and Mr. Wang Xinkuo
resigned as Executive Director and Deputy Chairman on 27
March 2009. The biographical details of the Directors are set
out on pages 8 to 13 of this annual report.

At each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at least once every three years. The Directors to
retire in every year shall be those who have been longest in
office since their last election but as between persons who
became Directors on the same day who to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree between themselves) be determined by
lot. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. A
new Director appointed by the Board (in the case of filling a
casual vacancy or an addition to the existing Board) after the
preceding annual general meeting is subject to retirement and
is then eligible for re-election at the first general meeting after
his appointment.
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The Company currently does not have a nomination committee.
The Board is directly in charge of nomination of directors. In
accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company, the Board shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board but so that the number of directors as
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined
from time to time by the members in general meeting. For
nomination, consideration will be made to the qualifications
and capabilities of the nominee.

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors
its financial performance and maintains effective oversight over
the management. The Board members are fully committed
to their roles and have acted in good faith to maximize the
shareholders’ value in the long run, and have aligned the
Group’s goals and directions with the prevailing economic and
market conditions. Daily operations and administration are
delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and officers. The
Company reviews the extent of this insurance each year.

All Directors have access to the services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance
and regulatory matters. Any Director, in the furtherance of
his or her duties, may take independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstance through the Chairman at the expense
of the Company. The availability of professional advice extends
to the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

Minutes of Board meetings are taken by the Company Secretary
and, together with any supporting Board papers, are available
to all Board members. During the year under review, six full
Board meetings were held by the Company.
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The attendance of individual directors at the Board meetings

and other Committee meetings during the year under review

are set out in the table below:
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HE/BITEERE
Remuneration Audit
Full Board Committee = Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting
Director BEE FREZTE FHEEE BEREES
Executive Directors HITEE
Fu Shula T 5/6 11 -
(resigned on 12 March 2009) (R=ZZE—ZF
=A+-BEHE)
Wang Xinkuo F.0F8 0/1 - -
(resigned on 27 March 2009) (RZZEZNF
=ZAZ+TtHEHME)
Ji Guirong FE L 6/6 - -
Ma Zhiping HFEF 4/6 - -
(resigned on 10 February 2010) (R—E—ZF
ZATHER
Liu Rongchun EE<E= 5/6 - -
Pan Linwu EME 6/6 - -
Zhang Chuanjun R{EE 6/6 - -
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond g 6/6 - -
Independent BB ITEE
Non-executive Directors
Chu Yu Lin, David R4k 6/6 11 22
Li Ka Fai, David sy i 5/6 iVl 2/2
Li Zhaoxi FIKER 6/6 - 2/2
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the role of the
Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive Officer.
Currently, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are Mr. Wu Guangquan and Mr. Ji Guirong
respectively.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board,
ensuring the effectiveness of the Board in all aspects of its
role and for setting its agenda and taking into account any
matters proposed by other Directors for inclusion in the agenda.
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are circulated where
possible at least three days before the time of a Board or
committee meeting. The Chairman is also responsible for
making sure all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings. The Chief Executive Officer is delegated
with the authorities to manage the business of the Group in
all aspects effectively.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer has been clearly established and set
out in writing.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Non-executive Directors bring a wide range of skill and
experience to the Group. They serve the important function of
providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the
interests of shareholders and the Company as a whole. The
Board considers that three of the four Non-executive Directors
are independent in character and judgment and fulfill the
independence guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. All Non-executive Directors including Independent Non-
executive Directors are appointed without specific terms, but
are subject to retirement by rotation as explained above under
section Board of Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one
Executive Director, Mr. Wu Guangquan (as Chairman), and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chu Yu Lin,
David and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David. The Remuneration Committee
is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy
on such remuneration. The role, authority and duties of the
Remuneration Committee are clearly set out in its terms of
reference.

The Remuneration Committee met one time during the
year under review to review, recommend and approve the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management.
The attendance of each member is set out in the table above
under section Board of Directors.

The primary goal of the remuneration policy on executive
remuneration packages is to enable the Company to retain
and motivate Executive Directors by linking their compensation
with performance as measured against corporate objectives.
Under the policy, a director is not allowed to approve his own
remuneration.

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to
the financial statements.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young are the auditors of the Company. The services
provided by them include audit and non-audit. Fees for auditing
(including interim review) and non-auditing services amounting
to HK$1,300,000 and HK$12,500 respectively.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established
in compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the
purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. It
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company, namely Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David (as Chairman),
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David and Mr. Li Zhaoxi. The Audit Committee
met twice during the year under review. The attendance of
each member is set out in the table above under section Board
of Directors. The duties of the Audit Committee are clearly set
out in its terms of reference.

Full minutes of meetings are kept and sent to all members of
the Board. Matters raised at the meetings were reported back
to the Board so that due consideration was given as to the
action to be taken.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for monitoring the preparation
of financial statements of each financial period and ensuring
those financial statements provide a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow
for the relevant financial period. In preparing the financial
statements, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and have applied them consistently, adopted Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and made a prudent
and reasonable judgment and estimation and prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Company has timely announced and published its financial
results in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The auditors are responsible for forming an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those financial statements
and to report their opinion solely to the shareholders of the
Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose.
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A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities
is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of this annual
report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness through
the Audit Committee. The Group’s system of internal control
plays a key role in the management of risks that is significant
to the fulfillment of its business objectives. Procedures have
been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, for maintaining proper accounting records;
and for the reliability of financial information used within the
business or for publication. The procedures provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses or
fraud. Procedures have also been designed for compliance of
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

A review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's
internal control system covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions, was conducted at the end of 2009 by
senior management of the Company. The result was reported to
the Audit Committee and thereafter to the Board. No material
deficiencies was identified. During the year under review, the
Board considered that the Company’s internal control system
was adequate and effective and the Company has complied
with the provisions on internal control of the CG Code. The
Board confirms that systems and procedures are in place to
identify, control and report on significant risks involved in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives. Exposures to
these risks are monitored by the Board with the support of
various committees and senior management.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to fair disclosure, comprehensive and
transparent reporting. Effective communication with shareholders
has always been one of the Company’s priorities. Information
in relation to the Group is disseminated to shareholders in a
timely manner through various formal channels, which include
interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars.

General meetings of the Company provide good opportunities
for direct communications between the Board and its
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, all other Directors and
senior management endeavor to attend any general meeting of
the Company and answer queries from shareholders. Separate
resolution is proposed for each issue by the Chairman of the
meeting at each general meeting. Notice of general meeting is
served together with the circular to the shareholders at least
twenty clear business days before an annual general meeting
and at least twenty-one days before a meeting called for
passing of a special resolution, and, at least ten clear business
days before a meeting other than an annual general meeting
or a meeting for the passing of a special resolution.

Detail procedures for conducting a poll are to be explained
by the Chairman of the meeting at the commencement of
the general meeting. Any questions raised from shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll are also be answered by the
Chairman of the meeting.
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 December 2009.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 5 June 2009, the name of
the Company was changed from “CATIC INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED” to “AVIC International Holding ( K)
Limited” R B fi ZE TS BUPRIEAR (B
B)EBR/ARE]" was adopted as the secondary name of the

and the Chinese name

Company.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries during the year
comprise:

(i) the supply of electric and steam power; and

(i) the aero-technology related business, including the
share of profit from the development, manufacture and
distribution of helicopters.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2009 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 38 to 189 of
this annual report.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2009.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 190 of this
annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the investment property and property,
plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements,
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorised
or issued share capital during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws/Articles of Association or the laws of
Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 35(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2009, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted
to HK$69,878,051. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account, in the amount of HK$193,970,166 may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of the Group’s purchases attributable to the
Group’s major suppliers are as follows:
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2009 2008
—EThE —ETNEF
% %

Percentage of purchases: HIREREE DL
From the largest supplier REZAHEER 23 35
From the five largest suppliers KERAHER 67 82

The percentages of the Group's sales attributable to the Group’s
major customers are as follows:

AEEFERFPHEREEZIHER S LA
T

2009 2008
—EENF ZEENF
% %

Percentage of sales: HIEEA
From the largest customer REZAEP 20 15
From the five largest customers RKEAAREF 39 32

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Wu Guangquan (appointed on 12 March 2010)
Fu Shula (resigned on 12 March 2010)

Ji Guirong

Liu Rongchun

Pan Linwu

Zhang Chuanjun

Ma Zhiping (resigned on 10 February 2010)
Wang Xinkuo (resigned on 27 March 2009)

Non-executive Director:

Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Chu Yu Lin, David
Li Ka Fai, David
Li Zhaoxi

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Wu Guangquan,
who was appointed as a director subsequent to the preceding
annual general meeting, will hold office until the forthcoming
annual general meeting and will then be eligible to offer
himself for re-election at the meeting. Furthermore, Messrs.
Liu Rongchun, Pan Linwu and Chu Yu Lin, David will retire by
rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Messrs. Chu Yu Lin, David, Li Ka Fai, David,
and Li Zhaoxi, and as at the date of this report still considers
them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 8 to 13
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director during the year had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its
holding companies and subsidiaries was a party during the
year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of
the directors in the share capital and underlying shares of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code"), were as follows:

EEzROREBRG 2E®

158979}

R_ZETNF+_R=1+—R0 SEFHH
RARNBHEREEE R(EFRBAEK
By EXVEBz EERZE) 2 ’kin KA M
ﬁﬁpﬁ” (EHREIERA) $£3526E T A

NREBEHE LTS - RWAER
<<Lm/&7§$th‘“%%x%m%%ﬁﬂu>>
(MZE=FAD AEARRQ §E AP 2
ExRBEwT

Long positions in share options of associated corporation of the Company:

RAEQREBLEZBREZHFA

Percentage of
the associated
corporation’s
issued share

Name of Relationship Number of Capacity and capital
Name of associated with the share options nature of 1G5 EE
director Notes  corporation Company held interest ERITRE
EEpg Hit HEEEER HAQARZEERE FEEREZE SORERNEE ZEDH
Ji Guirong (a) Sino Gas Associate 14,900,000 Directly 0.82
FEX Group Limited /NG beneficially
Hod R e owned
BRAA BERERHS
Zhang Chuanjun (b)  Sino Gas Associate 10,000,000  Directly 0.55
REE Group Limited /N beneficially
Hod R e owned
BR LA EEEGHE
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Notes: BE
(a) On 23 August 2007, Mr. Ji Guirong was granted options to (a) R-IEZE+ENA-F+=H =EEE
subscribe for an aggregate of 14,900,000 ordinary shares of £ RS K0 R E$14,900,0000% & K&
HK$0.20 each, at an exercise price of HK$0.35 per share, in Sino EHE0.20B TP M ZeeEBEFR A A
Gas Group Limited (“Sino Gas”). The Stock Exchange closing (Tpm2eE]) TR BAIE  17FEE
price of Sino Gas’ shares on the trading day immediately prior BEFR0.358 T o FIRRERD RNERE
to 23 August 2007 was HK$0.33 per share. The options were —EELFENA -+ =HAIZRBHEZ
granted by having received a total non-refundable payment of BT B AE033BT =44
HK$1.00 from Mr. Ji. The exercise periods are as follows: REREREREXMN T AT RERE
1.00/87T - B2 TEHINT
Number of
share options Exercise period
BREHE TR
4,966,667 1/10/2007 to 31/1/2015
Tt F+A—RAEZT-RF—-A=+—H
4,966,667 1/1/2008 to 31/1/2015
—EENF-—A—HEZ—RF—A=+—H
4,966,666 1/7/2008 to 31/1/2015

—EEN\FLA-HE_ZT-hE-A=+—H

14,900,000

No options have been exercised or cancelled during the year. FR - WEEREEITEIRN -
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(b) On 3 January 2006, Mr. Zhang Chuanjun was granted options
to subscribe for an aggregate of 10,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.20 each, at an exercise price of HK$0.20 per share,
in Sino Gas. The Stock Exchange closing price of Sino Gas’
shares on the trading day immediately prior to 3 January 2006
was HK$0.20 per share. The options were granted by having
received a total non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from Mr.
Zhang. The exercise periods are as follows:

(b) %:%%ﬁi—ﬁzav%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
% A& H A 7R E810,000,0000% & I& M B
QN%EZ$E%%% f& 2 B AR -
T B ATR0.208 T » HMZEER D
REBEE-_ZTZTAE—A=HAZX5H
2R T B B EIR0.204 T © RIE
EREEBERERESIN T AAEES
281.007%8 7T - BRAZITEEMT -

Number of
share options Exercise period
BRERE T
5,000,000 1/7/2006 to 31/1/2015
TRFLtA—HE-ZT—AF—A=1+—H
5,000,000 1/1/2007 to 31/1/2015
—EEHF-A-HE-T-hF—A=1+—H
10,000,000

No options have been exercised or cancelled during the year.

Certain directors have non-beneficial personal equity interests
in certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, none of the
directors of the Company had registered an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” above and in the
section “Share option scheme” below, at no time during the
year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in the Company granted to any director or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Further
details of the share option scheme are disclosed in note 34 to
the financial statements.

There was no share options outstanding under the share option
scheme as at 31 December 2008 and 20009.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FERRREMATREOR
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES HERG 2 EE

AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2009, the following interests of 5% or more R-ZZNE+—_HA=1—H A GFER
of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in (EAREEED) F£336(FF B 2R ERD

the register of interests required to be kept by the Company MacsE 2 AR AI5%k A F B3 TIRAREZS
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO: T

Long positions:

HR:
Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
Capacity Number of capital
and nature of ordinary R N
Name of shareholders interest shares held ERITRA
RRERE SHORERME MIEEERHE ZEZHK
Speed Profit Enterprises Limited (“Speed Profit”) Beneficial owner 508,616,000 10.70
SSHEE AR AR (T81ER 1) EnlAaA
Tacko International Limited (“Tacko") Beneficial owner 1,386,943,000 29.17
EnlAA
Through a controlled 508,616,000 10.70
corporation
FERXIEE
AVIC International (HK) Group Limited Through a controlled 1,895,559,000 39.87
("AVIC International (HK) Group”) corporation
(formerly known as CATIC (H.K.) Limited) BRZEEE

THER (BE) KEARAR
(THMERR (F8) £H))
(AP BEfRERMEL D (FE) ARAR])

AVIC International Holding Corporation Through a controlled 1,895,559,000 39.87
("AVIC International”) corporation
B ZE BT B IE R B RR AR ([ MBI 1) FRXIEEE

Aviation Industry Corporation of China ("AVIC”) Through a controlled 1,895,559,000 39.87
PEMETESEEQT ([FRFHRIE]) corporation
FRRIEAE

Atlantis Investment Management Ltd. Investment manager 434,000,000 9.13
WEEBA
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Note: Speed Profit is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tacko, which is
in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of AVIC International (HK)
Group. AVIC International (HK) Group is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of AVIC International, which is in turn a wholly-
owned subsidiary of AVIC. Pursuant to the SFO, Tacko is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Speed Profit;
and each of AVIC International (HK) Group, AVIC International
and AVIC is deemed to be interested in the aggregate shares
directly held by Speed Profit and Tacko.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, no person,
other than the directors of the Company whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ interests and short positions
in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had certain
connected and continuing connected transactions, details of
which are set out in note 41 to the financial statements and
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out in
note 41 to the financial statements and have confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i)
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to independent third parties;
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wu Guangquan
Chairman

Hong Kong
25 March 2010

34 AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited " EIMZ TEERER (F8) GRAA

RBRERETHEE
REAATBARACEEHENREES
i BEARER  ARALELRAR
ARBHTRABHZ25% °

BB

OKBETEBAEREER - MAKETZ
BRBFAE L REREREE L
BTGP R R R AR BIAD o

KEEFE

&%



Independent Auditors’ Report B ZEMRES

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= ik

Ernst & Young

18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

Rk ERTAI BT
FEHIRE SR
BEPE &R L2HA 1818
EEE: +852 2846 9888
{5H: +852 2868 4432

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432

www.ey.com

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AVIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDING (HK) LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CATIC
INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED)

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of AVIC International
Holding (HK) Limited set out on pages 38 to 189, which
comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial
position as at 31 December 2009, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report B ZH MR ES

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= ik

OPINION =

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair KR E  ZEUERREBIBETETNIER
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group HFEAEEMAR MR ABMERNR _-F
as at 31 December 2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash ZERE+A=T BB RBEZ
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong AIEFERENBReRE @ WEIRBES
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared NElEBI R BRI L BRE -

in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young RAKETTE BB
Certified Public Accountants HEDF A

Hong Kong BB

25 March 2010 —F-THF=AZTHA
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Consolidated Income Statement &8 EH &K

Year ended 31 December 2009 BZ=—ZEZENF+TA=+—HLEE

2009 2008
—EEZRE —ZENEF
Notes HK$ HK$
liigzg BT BT
REVENUE Wz 5 228,758,961 260,292,268
Cost of sales $HE AR (210,414,841) (238,474,441)
Gross profit S 18,344,120 21,817,827
Other income and gains HAb U A K FE 5 22,052,621 37,029,762
Administrative expenses THEREER (35,742,782) (31,719,044)
Other operating income/(expenses), net Hip@BWA /(%) F58 (761,902) 157,088
Finance costs s> (1,570,251) (6,192,992)
Deficit on revaluation of an investment KEYHEEHERE
property 13 (700,000) (5,900,000)
Surplus on revaluation of items ME - WEMRXEEE
of property, plant and equipment B A 14 1,007,111 3,700,667
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZFE 36 1,205,027 =
Loss on partial disposal of equity interest HEH B A R
in a subsidiary MR AR 2 B R 17 - (7,604,122)
Share of profits and losses of: DR REE
Jointly-controlled entity HEEREA T 486,412 2,165,374
Associates AN (4,722,507) 6,438,367
Impairment of a financial asset under EC120IHE 2
Project EC120 BB EERAE 20 (6,000,000) (2,500,000)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEREHER
investments KREZHME 32,121,760 13,449,333
Fair value gain/(loss) on equity investments & i@18251% A FEFIER
at fair value through profit or loss BRAZERITESRITE
and derivative financial instruments ZRFEME,(FR) 11,366,053 (12,169,214)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBL AR R 6 37,085,662 18,673,046
Income tax expense PS> 10 (12,379,752) (8,415,390)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REF 24,705,910 10,257,656
Attributable to: TH AL
Equity holders of the parent NEERFEA 11 23,772,415 1,852,044
Minority interests DEIRER 933,495 8,405,612
24,705,910 10,257,656
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AEEERERAA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF ELEREF
THE PARENT 12
- Basic and diluted —EAXRES HKO0.50 cent HK0.04 cent
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income &8 ZH W ZER
Year ended 31 December 2009 BZ—ZTZENFT+-_A=+—HILFE

2009 2008
“ZENE —TEN\F
Notes HK$ HK$
J/0f=3 B BT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AREFF 24,705,910 10,257,656
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hith 2 E W=
Surplus on property, plant and M - FREA
equipment revaluation REEHBLR 4,971,243 3,111,208
Available-for-sale investments: AIEHERNRE -
Change in fair value NEEE 21 10,363,981 (9,947,598)
Reclassification adjustment for gain FAGERERZ
included in the consolidated income FE 2 B D LEFHE
statement
— gain on disposal — HEZFE 21 (1,313,605) =
Reclassified to EFoEE
interest in an associate RN - 6,156,098
9,050,376 (3,791,500)
Exchange differences on translation of HE FINEFREE L
foreign operations 2 TN =5 1,277,143 12,969,354
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR ZAEH M2 EUkZE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (fOBRBIIEE) 15,298,762 12,289,062
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AERHKNFEEHE
FOR THE YEAR 40,004,672 22,546,718
Attributable to: TH AL,
Equity holders of the parent NEERFEEA 11 36,396,922 2,087,086
Minority interests DERR 3,607,750 20,459,632
40,004,672 22,546,718
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position %4 Bt & #R R ]
31 December 2009 =ZEZNF+=HA=+—H

2009 2008
“EENE —ZTN\F
Notes HKS$ HK$
Hrzt B BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment property EYE 13 - 18,300,000
Property, plant and equipment ME - R MRE 14 281,864,870 223,474,051
Prepaid land lease payments TEfS AR &K 15 28,506,932 29,098,652
Goodwill SES 16 30,493,201 30,493,201
Interest in a jointly-controlled entity H AR D Bl fE s 18 43,319,189 42,832,777
Interests in associates B8 N Al Es 19 170,041,714 123,680,439
Financial asset under Project EC120 EC1207B R v IS & E 20 3,459,462 9,459,462
Available-for-sale investments AHEENKE 21 63,284,434 47,398,926
Deposit for acquisition of an investment UWEEIKERIZE 22 - 61,165,927
Deposits and other receivables e K HE b FE YRR 23 - 20,466,063
Total non-current assets EREERE 620,969,802 606,369,498
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 24 13,945,119 31,359,134
Trade and bills receivables FEWE FERE R ERE 25 32,488,155 46,772,014
Loans to associates M & N AR E R 19 50,138,909 9,048,000
Prepayments, deposits and other TENFIE -« e MEAM
receivables FEU R K 26 81,745,267 38,986,915
Derivative financial instrument TESmT A 27 23,794,178 -
Available-for-sale investments AHEERIRE 21 - 15,364,807
Pledged time deposits BIEHTEHER 28 45,051,137 53,671,663
Cash and cash equivalents RENELEE 28 330,478,651 350,734,518
Total current assets MENEERE 577,641,416 545,937,051
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R
Trade and bills payables e E 5 RAKLFE 29 112,698,176 117,624,859
Tax payable FERTIE 8,778,876 2,622,306
Other payables and accruals HigENRIENETER 30 21,187,580 7,785,804
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHEBRITER 31 28,409,091 29,411,765
Total current liabilities mBBERE 171,073,723 157,444,734
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZFE 406,567,693 388,492,317
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES &ELERKBDEE 1,027,537,495 994,861,815
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIEE F 32 6,653,991 6,798,056
Net assets BESE 1,020,883,504 988,063,759
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Z= & Bt #& 4k R &
31 December 2009 =BZ N F+=B=+—H

2009 2008
“EZENE —ZTN\E
Notes HKS$ HK$
Hrzt B BT
EQUITY gy
Equity attributable to equity holders X R#E&HEIFE A
of the parent (R
Issued capital BEITIRA 33 475,439,700 475,439,700
Reserves e 35(a) 480,015,499 443,618,577
955,455,199 919,058,277
Minority interests DERRER 65,428,305 69,005,482
Total equity iR E 1,020,883,504 988,063,759
Ji Guirong Zhang Chuanjun
E—§ REE
Director Director
= EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ZREeEZE R

Year ended 31 December 2009 BZ=—ZEZENF+TA=+—HLEE

Share
Issued premium
capital account

BERTRE  BRORER

HKS$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January 2008 R-ZZN\F—A—H 478,530,300 194,444,479
Total comprehensive income for the year AEZENRES = =
Transfer to reserve fund BREZRES = =
Repurchase of shares BRERGH (3,090,600) (474,313)
Partial disposal of equity interest in a subsidiary HEMB AR RAER = =
Capital contribution from minority shareholders SERFTE = -
At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009 RZZEEN\F+-A=t—HBR
“ETNF-FA-H 475,439,700 193,970,166*
Total comprehensive income for the year KEZAKGEE = =
Transfer to reserve fund BEERES = =
Disposal of subsidiaries HENE AR = =
Dividend paid to minority shareholders aTPERERS = -
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZEAE+-_F=1—H 475,439,700  193,970,166*
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * WERERBAXNGEMBRARAZ
HK$480,015,499 (2008: HK$443,618,577) in the consolidated 4R & R 15480,015,499%F L (Z 2 N
statement of financial position. 4 : 443,618,577 7T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Zr & = E Bk

Year ended 31 December 2009 BZ=ZEFNF+-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

AREREEARLESR
Property, Available-
plant and for-sale
equipment investment Exchange
revaluation  revaluation Reserve  fluctuation Retained Minority Total
reserve reserve fund reserve profits Total interests equity
mx - BEMN AfEE i:37) D
RBEMLRE REEMERE wEE KB E B CEH RRER ERAE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
(note 35(a))
(Hiz#35(a))

4,907,309 4,231,215 6,927,204 20,156,611 213,720,479 922,917,597 33,045,866 955,963,463
270,083 (3,152,803) - 3,756,459 1,213,347 2,087,086 20,459,632 22,546,718
- - 885,970 - (885,970) - - -
- - - - - (3,564,913) - (3,564,913)
(687,023) - (1,385,441) (2,381,493) 2,072,464 (2,381,493) 15,499,360 13,117,867
- - - - - - 624 624
4,490,369* 1,078,412* 6,427,733*  21,531,577* 216,120,320* 919,058,277 69,005,482 988,063,759
2,783,896 9,050,376 - 790,235 23,772,415 36,396,922 3,607,750 40,004,672
- - 58,047 - (58,047) - - _
- - - - - - 33,003 33,003
- - - - - - (7,217,930 (7,217,930
7,274,265*  10,128,788* 6,485,780*  22,321,812* 239,834,688* 955,455,199 65,428,305 1,020,883,504
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZER &
Year ended 31 December 2009 BZ=—ZEZENF+TA=+—HLEE

2=
AL

BR

44 AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited FEMZE TXEERER (F8) BRAH

2009 2008
ZEENF —ZEN\F
Notes HK$ HK$
Hrzt BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax PR FR BT 8 A 37,085,662 18,673,046
Adjustments for: AR
Finance costs X 7 1,570,251 6,192,992
Share of profits and losses AinEZEELDE
of jointly-controlled entity AN i
and associates X &8 4,236,095 (8,603,741)
Bank interest income RITHBUA 5 (2,406,328) (11,915,653)
Interest income on convertible bonds ~ AIMREEFZ M EUWA 5 (485,535) (312,000)
Interest income on loans to associates (B A /N B2 Y
Bz H B A 5 (2,416,799) =
Interest income on other receivable Hip el BE =
B A 5 (932,438) -
Dividend income from an TR ER
available-for-sale unlisted investment BB 7 BB A 5 (6,937,490) _
Loss on disposal of an associate HEBE AR ZEE 192,691 -
Gains on disposal of items of property, HE¥ZE - BEMKRE
plant and equipment 18 B 2 5 (236,172) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries i & B B A B 2 F) 36 (1,205,027) -
Loss on partial disposal of equity & BT B A R BB 1D
interest in a subsidiary f& A #e a2 518 - 7,604,122
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - MEM
plant and equipment XBEIEE 2 EiE 6 - 1,399,488
Depreciation e 6 17,963,389 16,437,890
Deficit on revaluation of BEYHEER
an investment property 518 13 700,000 5,900,000
Surplus on revaluation of R ER R ETA
items of property, plant ZME - BB
and equipment credited to ML B
the income statement BEARH% 14 (1,007,111) (3,700,667)
Gain on disposal of HEHEER
available-for-sale investments ®E 2 FHE (32,121,760) (13,449,333)
Fair value loss/(gain) on equity =kt /NS =]
investments at fair value through BRI R AR E
profit or loss and derivative EiTAEemIT A
financial instruments ZRAFEER
(F358) (11,366,053) 12,169,214
Recognition of prepaid land MERTE R T4
lease payments HER 6 728,531 777,903
Provision for impairment of trade and  EWE ZERZH X
bills receivables, net FBRZBERETHE 6 427,947 922,680
Write-off of other receivables T L A U AR R 6 49,864 75,348



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows %25 IREFRER
Year ended 31 December 2009 BZ=ZEFNF+-A=+—HILFE

2009 2008
“BENE “ETN\E
Notes HKS$ HK$
Hrzt B B
Impairment of a financial asset EC120I8E
under Project EC120 BB ERME 20 6,000,000 2,500,000
Provision/(write-back of provision) for SRS MBS
financial guarantee contracts (B4 o] 18 ) 6 284,091 (1,155,116)
10,123,808 33,516,173
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERAD,/(58m) 17,414,015 (13,959,304)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and U E SR K
bills receivables =R () 13,855,912 (24,857,114)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TEREREN - EBe Rk
deposits and other receivables H At e U BR R
WA () (17,661,538) 285,527
Increase/(decrease) in trade and BB SRR M ERE
bills payables 20 ORd) (4,926,683) 36,866,664
Increase/(decrease) in other payables H it FEM R K
and accruals FERTE AN,
ORtA) 23,832,162 (8,483,619)
Cash generated from operations CEELEZRS 42,637,676 23,368,327
Interest paid B F& 7 (1,570,251) (6,192,381)
Interest element on a finance lease BERE 2 F B3 D 7 - (611)
Overseas tax paid B8 INRIR (6,367,247) (5,028,703)
Net cash flows from operating activities &2 EE) 2 IH &R A FERE 34,700,178 12,146,632
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFBHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Dividend received from an W B FE T A] £ 1 B )
available-for-sale unlisted investment S S 9= 6,937,490 -
Purchases of items of property, BAYZE - BE
plant and equipment HEIER 14 (51,817,996) (21,989,690)
Additions to property REERPWE
under development (8,803,177) -
Deposit for acquisition of an investment WEERE MRS 22 - (61,165,927)
Purchase of additional equity interest & A H[E1EHE AT
in a jointly-controlled entity FEINIR AN 2 - (1,171,282)
Purchase of additional equity interests B A B & A T ZESN
in associates AR A fE s - (16,300,901)
Purchases of available-for-sale BARREHENKRE
investments (2,680,300) -
Purchase of an equity investment BASZBEREAYF
at fair value through profit or loss BEHERNRARKE - (11,663,224)
Purchase of a derivative financial BATEERMT A
instrument (11,900,000) -
Advance of loans to associates Mg ARIREER (24,848,297) (9,048,000)
Proceeds from partial disposal of HEMBARE S
equity interest in a subsidiary IR AR FT 15 3R - 13,137,046
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46 AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZRZERERER
Year ended 31 December 2009 BHZE—EENF+_A=+—HLEE

2009 2008
ZEENF —ETN\E
Notes HKS$ HKS
Hrzt BT BT
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & B A R P15 5118 1,146,842 -
Proceeds from disposal of an HEMHEENKRE
available-for-sale investment FrS 308 21,832,579 18,954,000
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWSE - KKEA
property, plant and equipment RIEEE 5508 240,000 540,315
Disposal of subsidiaries LEKEB AR 36 4,500,991 —
Bank Interest received EUHERTTAR 2,406,328 11,915,653
Interest received on convertible bonds B U AT 2R &% F] 5 455,267 312,000
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BERBEHETRLD
time deposits (3%Z40) 8,620,526 (17,344,040)
Net cash flows used in WEEBFEAZE
investing activities mEFE (53,909,747) (93,824,050)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of shares A=l - (3,564,913)
New bank loans FIRITER 45,454,545 29,411,765
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER (46,590,909) (96,017,131)
Capital element of finance lease MEMEHES 2
rental payments BEARE D - (57,841)
Dividend to minority shareholders LT ERERE (7,217,930) (5,740,106)
Capital contribution from VYR TE
minority shareholders - 624
Advance from a minority shareholder 38 B 4 SRR Eh3K 7,034,976 -
Net cash flows used in financing METEEAZ2RE
activities mEFEE (1,319,318) (75,967,602)
NET DECREASE IN RERREEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS WA R (20,528,887)  (157,645,020)
Cash and cash equivalents FzRE R
at beginning of year R 350,734,518 508,074,602
Effect of foreign exchange rate bE RSB B R
changes, net 273,020 304,936
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZR8RERER
Year ended 31 December 2009 HEZE=—ZEENEFE+-A=1+—HILFE

2009 2008
“BENE —TTNF
Notes HKS$ HKS
/0f=3 B BT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBER
AT END OF YEAR ReEE 330,478,651 350,734,518
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HeREEEE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS F) = iy
Cash and bank balances R RIBTTER 28 111,247,128 44,222,389
Non-pledged time deposits with R4S R R AR B HA B
original maturity of less than TR=M@AZ
three months when acquired K F HiTE 28 219,231,523 306,512,129
330,478,651 350,734,518
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Statement of Financial Position Bt #&HA R &

31 December 2009 —ZZEZENAF+-A=+—H

2009 2008
“BENE —ETN\E
Notes HKS$ HK$
/0f=3 B BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment property LB 13 - 18,300,000
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEMEE 14 29,456,884 11,902,805
Interests in subsidiaries BB A RIAERS 17 580,034,555 536,782,561
Available-for-sale investments AHEERNIRE 21 2,680,300 -
Deposit for acquisition of an investment U iEI% &M LS 22 - 16,281,979
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 612,171,739 583,267,345
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Loans to an associate Mt A TIRENE K 19 31,048,000 9,048,000
Prepayments, deposits and BFIE - Be Rk
other receivables H b fE U BR 2K 26 3,665,575 2,410,765
Cash and cash equivalents BHehEeE 28 94,067,581 157,648,952
Total current assets mENEERE 128,781,156 169,107,717
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBAE
Accruals e E A 30 1,664,978 1,938,927
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 127,116,178 167,168,790
Net assets BEFE 739,287,917 750,436,135
EQUITY =
Issued capital BEITRA 33 475,439,700 475,439,700
Reserves i 35(b) 263,848,217 274,996,435
Total equity EmiRE 739,287,917 750,436,135
Ji Guirong Zhang Chuanjun
EEE REE
Director Director
EFE EZE
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2.1

Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =BZ N F+=B=+—H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered
office of the Company is located at Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following
activities:

(i) the supply of electric and steam power; and

(i) the aero-technology related business, including
the share of profit from the development,
manufacture and distribution of helicopters.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Aviation Industry Corporation
of China (“AVIC"), which is incorporated in the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC").

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for an investment property, certain plant and equipment,
equity investments and derivative financial instruments,
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars except

when otherwise indicated.

2.1
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Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& R & Mi 5t

31 December 2009 —ZZEZENAF+-A=+—H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2009. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases. All income,
expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intercompany transactions and intercompany balances
within the Group are eliminated on consolidation in
full.

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
This method involves allocating the cost of the business
combinations to the fair value of the identifiable assets
acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly
attributable to the acquisition.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside
shareholders not held by the Group in the results and
net assets of the Company's subsidiaries.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 —=ZEhEFE+=A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 2.2 SRR RBECZEE

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements. Except for in certain cases, giving rise to
new and revised accounting policies and additional
disclosures, the adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs has had no significant effect on these financial

AEERAFEBHHRERF BIREK
RATHET REETREVHRE
- (RETHER T3 EEFTK
R R B EARM MW TSN - £
RZEHT RRETREVBRE
HAGRE AP B BRRELEERNF

statements.

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27

Amendments

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 8

HKFRS 8 Amendment*

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 18 Amendment*

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and
HKAS 39 Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements - Cost of an Investment
in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity
or Associate

Amendments to HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment - Vesting
Conditions and Cancellations

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures - Improving
Disclosures about Financial Instruments

Operating Segments

Amendment to HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
- Disclosure of information about
segment assets (early adopted)

Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18
Revenue - Determining whether an entity
is acting as a principal or as an agent

Borrowing Costs

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and
HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Puttable Financial Instruments
and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment
of Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement - Embedded Derivatives
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Notes to Financial Statements &1 #& 3§ 3 iz
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment
in a Foreign Operation
HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

(adopted from 1 July 2009)
Improvements to HKFRSs ~ Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
(October 2008)

i Included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (as issued in
May 2009).

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised
HKFRSs are as follows:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements - Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate

The HKAS 27 Amendment requires all dividends
from subsidiaries, associates or jointly-controlled
entities to be recognised in the income statement
in the parent's separate financial statements. The
distinction between pre and post acquisition profits
is no longer required. However, the payment of
such dividends requires the Company to consider
whether there is an indicator of impairment.
The amendment is applied prospectively. HKAS
27 has also been amended to deal with the
measurement of the cost of investments where a
parent reorganises the structure of its group by
establishing a new entity as its parent. The HKFRS
1 Amendment allows a first-time adopter of
HKFRSs to measure its investment in subsidiaries,
associates or jointly-controlled entities using a
deemed cost. As the Group is not a first-time
adopter of HKFRSs, the HKFRS 1 Amendment is
not applicable to the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =BZ N F+=B=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

()

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

The HKFRS 2 Amendments clarify that vesting
conditions are service conditions and performance
conditions only. Any other conditions are non-
vesting conditions. Where an award does not
vest as a result of a failure to meet a non-vesting
condition that is within the control of either the
entity or the counterparty, this is accounted for as
a cancellation. As the Group has not entered into
share-based payment schemes with non-vesting
conditions attached, the amendments have had
no impact on the financial position or result of
operations of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Improving
Disclosures about Financial Instruments

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional
disclosures about fair value measurement and
liquidity risk. Fair value measurements related to
items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed
by sources of inputs using a three-level fair value
hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments
recognised at fair value. In addition, a reconciliation
between the beginning and ending balance is
now required for level 3 fair value measurements,
as well as significant transfers between levels
in the fair value hierarchy. The amendments
also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk
disclosures with respect to derivative transactions
and assets used for liquidity management. The
fair value measurement disclosures are presented
in note 43 to the financial statements while the
revised liquidity risk disclosures are presented in
note 44 to the financial statements.
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31 December 2009 —ZZEZENAF+-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8, which replaces HKAS 14 Segment
Reporting, specifies how an entity should report
information about its operating segments, based
on information about the components of the
entity that is available to the chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of allocating
resources to the segments and assessing their
performance. The standard also requires the
disclosure of information about the products
and services provided by the segments, the
geographical areas in which the Group operates,
and revenue from the Group's major customers.
These revised disclosures, including the related
revised comparative information, are shown in
note 4 to the financial statements.

The Group has early adopted in these financial
statements the Amendment to HKFRS 8 issued
in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 which clarifies
that segment assets need only to be reported
when those assets are included in measures that
are used by the chief operating decision maker.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =BZ N F+=B=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(e)

()

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the
presentation and disclosures of financial
statements. The revised standard separates owner
and non-owner changes in equity. The statement
of changes in equity includes only details of
transactions with owners, with all non-owner
changes in equity presented as a single line. In
addition, this standard introduces the statement
of comprehensive income, with all items of
income and expense recognised in profit or
loss, together with all other items of recognised
income and expense recognised directly in equity,
either in one single statement, or in two linked
statements. The Group has elected to present
two statements.

Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18
Revenue - Determining whether an entity
is acting as a principal or as an agent

Guidance has been added to the appendix (which
accompanies the standard) to determine whether
the Group is acting as a principal or as an agent.
The features to consider are whether the Group
(i) has the primary responsibility for providing
the goods or services, (ii) has inventory risk,
(iii) has the discretion to establish prices and
(iv) bears credit risk. The Group has assessed
its revenue arrangements against these criteria
and concluded that it is acting as a principal in
all arrangements. The amendment has had no
impact on the financial position or results of
operations of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& R & Mi 5t

31 December 2009 —ZZEZENAF+-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(9)

(h)

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

HKAS 23 has been revised to require capitalisation
of borrowing costs when such costs are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset. As the Group’s
current policy for borrowing costs aligns with the
requirements of the revised standard, the revised
standard has had no impact on the financial
position or results of operations of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation

The HKAS 32 Amendments provide a limited
scope exception for puttable financial instruments
and instruments that impose specified obligations
arising on liquidation to be classified as equity if
they fulfil a number of specified features. The
HKAS 1 Amendments require disclosure of certain
information relating to these puttable financial
instruments and obligations classified as equity.
As the Group currently has no such financial
instruments or obligations, the amendments have
had no impact on the financial position or results
of operations of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3k M 5%
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(i)

()

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement — Embedded Derivatives

The amendment to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 requires an
entity to assess whether an embedded derivative
must be separated from a host contract when the
entity reclassifies a hybrid financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category. This
assessment is to be made based on circumstances
that existed on the later of the date the entity
first became a party to the contract and the date
of any contract amendments that significantly
change the cash flows of the contract. HKAS 39
has been revised to state that if an embedded
derivative cannot be separately measured, the
entire hybrid instrument must remain classified as
fair value through profit or loss in its entirety. The
adoption of the amendments has had no impact
on the financial position or results of operations
of the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty
Programmes

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 requires customer loyalty
award credits to be accounted for as a separate
component of the sales transaction in which
they are granted. The consideration received in
the sales transaction is allocated between the
loyalty award credits and the other components
of the sale. The amount allocated to the loyalty
award credits is determined by reference to their
fair value and is deferred until the awards are
redeemed or the liability is otherwise extinguished.
As the Group currently has no customer loyalty
award scheme, the interpretation has had no
impact on the financial position or results of
operations of the Group.
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31 December 2009 —ZZEZENAF+-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(k)

0]

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 replaces HK Interpretation 3
Revenue — Pre-completion Contracts for the Sale
of Development Properties. It clarifies when and
how an agreement for the construction of real
estate should be accounted for as a construction
contract in accordance with HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts or an agreement for the sale of goods
or services in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.
As the Group currently is not involved in any
construction of real estate, the interpretation has
had no impact on the financial position or results
of operations of the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment
in a Foreign Operation

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 provides guidance on the
accounting for a hedge of a net investment in a
foreign operation. This includes clarification that
(i) hedge accounting may be applied only to the
foreign exchange differences arising between the
functional currencies of the foreign operation and
the parent entity; (ii) a hedging instrument may
be held by any entities within a group; and (iii)
on disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
gain or loss relating to both the net investment
and the hedging instrument that was determined
to be an effective hedge should be reclassified
to the income statement as a reclassification
adjustment. As the Group currently has no hedge
of a net investment in a foreign operation, the
interpretation has had no impact on the financial
position or results of operations of the Group.
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31 December 2009 —EZEAE+=-HA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(m)

(n)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from
Customers (adopted from 1 July 2009)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 provides guidance on accounting
by recipients that receive from customers items
of property, plant and equipment or cash for
the acquisition or construction of such items,
provided that these assets must then be used
to connect customers to networks or to provide
ongoing access to a supply of goods or services,
or both. As the Group currently has no such
transactions, the interpretation has had no impact
on the financial position or results of operations
of the Group.

In October 2008, the HKICPA issued its first
Improvements to HKFRSs which sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Except for
the amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations — Plan
to Sell the Controlling Interest in a Subsidiary
which is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2009, the Group adopted all
the amendments from 1 January 2009. While
the adoption of some of the amendments results
in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments has had a significant financial impact
to the Group. Details of the key amendments
most applicable to the Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
Removes the reference to “total interest
income” as a component of finance

costs.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& R & Mi 5t

31 December 2009 ZZEZEAFE+=-"A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(n) (continued)

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements: Clarifies that assets and
liabilities which are classified as held for
trading in accordance with HKAS 39 are
not automatically classified as current in

the statement of financial position.

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Replaces the term “net selling price” with
“fair value less costs to sell” and the
recoverable amount of property, plant
and equipment is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use.

In addition, items of property, plant
and equipment held for rental that are
routinely sold in the ordinary course of
business after rental are transferred to
inventories when rental ceases and they
are held for sale.

HKAS 20 Accounting for Government
Grants and Disclosure of Government
Assistance: Requires government loans
granted in the future with no or at a
below-market rate of interest to be
recognised and measured in accordance
with HKAS 39 and the benefit of the
reduced interest to be accounted for as a
government grant.
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Notes to Financial Statements B %3 3R i+

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(n) (continued)

HKAS 28 Investments in Associates:
Clarifies that an investment in an
associate is a single asset for the purpose
of conducting the impairment test and
that no impairment is separately allocated
to goodwill included in the investment
balance.

HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets: When
discounted cash flows are used to estimate
“fair value less costs to sell”, additional
disclosures (e.g., discount rate and
growth rate used) are required which are
consistent with the disclosures required
when the discounted cash flows are used
to estimate “value in use”.

HKAS 38 Intangible Assets: Expenditure
on advertising and promotional activities is
recognised as an expense when the Group
either has the right to access the goods or
has received the service.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 2.2 Bt BREKHEZEH
AND DISCLOSURES (continued) (%)

(n)  (continued) n) (&)

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement: (i) sets out a number
of changes in circumstances relating
to derivatives that are not considered
to result in reclassification into or out
of the fair value through profit or loss
category; (ii) removes the reference to
the designation of hedging instrument
at the segment level; and (iii) requires
that the revised effective interest rate
(rather than the original effective interest
rate) calculated on cessation of fair value
hedge accounting should be used for the
remeasurement of the hedged item when
paragraph Accounting Guidelines 8 of
HKAS 39 is applicable.

HKAS 40 Investment Property: Revises the
scope such that property being constructed
or developed for future as an investment
property is classified as an investment
property.
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2.3 EEMEEMRERZER
PR EER

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

7 % [ 30 48 TR 7R B 5 R AR 19 A A
TEHEME R RER AT REE
R EBMIEHRELER o

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial BRNBRERARE  BAROE BB
Reporting Standards ! (537)

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption ERUBRSRAZE  BANBREENZ R (B
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards - (B3T%) K) BARAE R EHEE
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters ? Bl - BAFHE A #

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial ERUBRERNES  BAFHEAGRIEE

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 1 Amendment

Reporting Standards - Limited Exemption from (B31%) - BARORBBTEER
Comparative HKFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time FIRIREINEEZL
Adopters ¢ FRESE
HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based BEUBREEAEE ARMBRERIER (B
Payment - Group Cash-settled Share-based (BT%) R RAEN - £BE 45
Payment Transactions 2 RONGES
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations ! BRURREEAESS  EEAH
(3T
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ¢ FRUBREEAEYE 2HIA
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures ° BECIENEMSE  BERAE
(@E3T)
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements BRSENENR  FARELIERA
(&E3T)
HKAS 32 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: FREENENE  FAeMENE3E (BHA)
Presentation - Classification of Rights Issues? (%) 2BIA : 25 LRI
HKAS 39 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: BRGNS BAEEAE0R (BT
Recognition and Measurement - Eligible (BaT%) PHTE  BARHE-5F
Hedlged ftems ! HEHER

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19

Amendments to HKFRS 5
included in Improvements

to HKFRSs issued in
October 2008

HK Interpretation 4

(Revised in December 2009)

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments
of a Minimum Funding Requirement °

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners !

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments *

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Plan to
Sell the Controlling Interest in a Subsidliary '

Leases - Determination of the Length of Lease Term
in respect of Hong Kong Land Leases ?

Bt (ERpRase B (ERERERSRERES)

BZES)-%RE  -RERUE (BIX) EY
143 (B31%) FEELER

Bt (ARGHSRERE AFEASRAL A
ZRE)-2ERH
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ZRE)-RER19
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued
Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 which sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording.
The amendments to HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HK(IFRIC)-Int
9 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 while the amendments
to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8, HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 17,
HKAS 36 and HKAS 39 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2010 although there
are separate transitional provisions for each standard or
interpretation.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July

2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
February 2010

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2011
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013
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2.3

Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =ZBZ N F+=B=+—H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HKFRS 1 (Revised) was issued with an aim to improve
the structure of the standard. The revised version of the
standard does not make any changes to the substance
of accounting by first-time adopters. As the Group is not
a first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments will not
have any financial impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 1 Amendments provide relief from the full
retrospective application of HKFRSs for the measurement
of oil and gas assets and leases. As a result of extending
the options for determining deemed cost to oil and gas
assets, the existing exemption relating to decommissioning
liabilities has also been revised. As the Group is not a
first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments will not
have any financial impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 1 Amendment provides first-time adopters
with the same transitional provisions as included in the
amendments to HKFRS 7. The transitional provisions in
HKFRS 7 have been amended to clarify that an entity need
not provide the disclosure required by the amendments
to HKFRS 7 for (i) any annual or interim period, including
any statement of financial position, presented within an
annual comparative period ending before 31 December
2009 or (ii) any statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period as at a date
before 31 December 2009.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The HKFRS 2 Amendments provide guidance on how to
account for cash-settled share-based payment transactions
in the separate financial statements of the entity receiving
the goods and services when the entity has no obligation
to settle the share-based payment transactions. The
amendments also incorporate guidance that was
previously included in HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions. The Group expects to adopt the HKFRS 2
Amendments from 1 January 2010. The amendments
are unlikely to have any significant implications on the
Group's accounting for share-based payments.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in the
accounting for business combinations that will impact
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results
in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future
reported results.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =ZBZ N F+=B=+—H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of control
is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such
a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give
rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised standard
changes the accounting for losses incurred by the
subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary.
Other consequential amendments were made to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes,
HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and HKAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures.

The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 3 (Revised) and
HKAS 27 (Revised) from 1 January 2010. The changes
introduced by these revised standards must be applied
prospectively and will affect the accounting of future
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with
minority interests.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part
of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely
replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of
classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity
shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured at
either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement
of financial assets compared with the requirements of
HKAS 39. HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9

in its entirety by the end of 2010.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition
of related parties. It also provides for a partial exemption
of related party disclosure to government-related entities
for transactions with the same government or entities
that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the same government. The Group expects
to adopt HKAS 24 (Revised) from 1 January 2011 and the
comparative related party disclosures will be amended
accordingly. While the adoption of the revised standard
will result in changes in the accounting policy, the
revised standard is unlikely to have any impact on the
related party disclosures as the Group currently does
not have any significant transactions with government
related entities.

The HKAS 32 Amendment revises the definition of
financial liabilities such that rights, options or warrants
issued to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own
equity instruments for a fixed amount of any currency
are equity instruments, provided that the entity offers
the rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its
existing owners of the same class of its own non-
derivative equity instruments. The Group expects to
adopt the HKAS 32 Amendment from 1 January 2011.
As the Group currently has no such rights, options or
warrants in issue, the amendment is unlikely to have any
financial impact on the Group.

The HKAS 39 Amendment addresses the designation of
a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation
of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular
situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to
designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow
variability of a financial instrument as a hedged item.
The Group expects to adopt the HKAS 39 Amendment
from 1 January 2010. As the Group has not entered into
any such hedges, the amendment is unlikely to have any
financial impact on the Group.
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2.3

Notes to Financial Statements B} %% 5 3% M &

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments remove an unintended
consequence arising from the treatment of prepayments
of future contributions in certain circumstances
when there is a minimum funding requirement. The
amendments require an entity to treat the benefit of
an early payment as a pension asset. The economic
benefit available as a reduction in future contributions
is thus equal to the sum of (i) the prepayment for
future services and (ii) the estimated future services
costs less the estimated minimum funding requirement
contributions that would be required as if there were no
prepayments. The Group expects to adopt the HK(IFRIC)-
Int 14 Amendments from 1 January 2011. As the Group
has no defined benefit scheme, the amendments will not
have any financial impact on the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 standardises practice in the accounting
for non-reciprocal distributions of non-cash assets to
owners. The Group expects to apply the interpretation
from 1 January 2010 prospectively. The interpretation
clarifies that (i) a dividend payable should be recognised
when the dividend is appropriately authorised and is no
longer at the discretion of the entity; (ii) an entity should
measure the dividend payable at the fair value of the
net assets to be distributed; and (iii) an entity should
recognise the difference between the dividend paid and
the carrying amount of the net assets distributed in profit
or loss. Other consequential amendments were made to
HKAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period and HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. While the adoption of the interpretation
may result in changes in certain accounting policies, the
interpretation is unlikely to have any material financial
impact on the Group.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 addresses the accounting by an entity
when the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated
and result in the entity issuing equity instruments to
a creditor of the entity to extinguish all or part of
the financial liability. The Group expects to adopt the
interpretation from 1 January 2011. The interpretation
clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor to
extinguish a financial liability are consideration paid
in accordance with HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished, and the consideration paid, shall be
recognised in profit or loss. The consideration paid
should be measured based on the fair value of the
equity instrument issued or, if the fair value of the equity
instrument cannot be reliably measured, the fair value
of the financial liability extinguished. As the Group has
not undertaken such transactions, the interpretation is
unlikely to have any material financial impact on the
Group.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that all assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary shall be classified as held for
sale if an entity has a sale plan involving loss of control
of the subsidiary, regardless of whether the entity will
retain a non-controlling interest. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2010. The
changes must be applied prospectively and will affect
future sale transactions or plans involving loss of control
of a subsidiary.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009 sets
out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Except for
the amendment to HKAS 18 and the amendment to
HKFRS 8, the Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 January 2010. There are separate transitional
provisions for each standard. Those amendments that
are expected to have a significant impact on the Group
are as follows:
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Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(a)

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Requires that
only expenditures that result in a recognised
asset in the statement of financial position
can be classified as a cash flow from investing
activities.

HKAS 17 Leases: Removes the specific guidance
on classifying land as a lease. As a result, leases
of land should be classified as either operating
or finance leases in accordance with the general
guidance in HKAS 17.

HK Interpretation 4 Leases — Determination of
the Length of Lease Term in respect of Hong
Kong Land Leases is revised as a consequence
of the amendment to HKAS 17 Leases included
in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009. Following this
amendment, the scope of HK Interpretation 4 has
been expanded to cover all land leases, including
those classified as finance leases. As a result,
this Interpretation is applicable to all leases of
property accounted for in accordance with HKAS
16, HKAS 17 and HKAS 40.

HKAS 36 Clarifies

that the largest unit permitted for allocating

Impairment of Assets:

goodwill acquired in a business combination
is the operating segment as defined in HKFRS
8 Operating Segments before aggregation for
financial reporting purposes.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(d)

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement: Clarifies that (i) a prepayment
option is considered closely related to the host
contract when the exercise price of a prepayment
option reimburses the lender up to the
approximate present value of lost interest for the
remaining term of the host contract; (ii) the scope
exemption for contracts between an acquirer
and a vendor in a business combination to buy
or sell an acquiree at a future date, applies only
to binding forward contracts, and not derivative
contracts where further actions by either party
are still to be taken; and (iii) gains or losses
on cash flow hedges of a forecast transaction
that subsequently results in the recognition of
a financial instrument or on cash flow hedges
of recognised financial instruments should be
reclassified in the period that the hedged forecast
cash flows affect profit or loss.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives: Clarifies that it does not apply to
possible reassessment, at the date of acquisition,
to embedded derivatives in contracts acquired
in a combination between entities or businesses
under common control or the formation of a joint
venture.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERHEE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

ML E
()= NCIDERN/NCIR=R -3 A Ee g ]
HE B R EEBRRIADHIFEEF

ZER -

MBARZEEZD W EYARS
MEBARRR 2 WEERA - &
RAIRMBRR 2T AR AE
R EDRE R BB -

Joint ventures BERAR
A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual EERRBREAENLENINE

arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture
operates as a separate entity in which the Group and
the other parties have an interest.

B B AfREREMEEAL
RUNETEBELES - B2RAER
BUYEREZE ASEEAMSE
ATHEEER -

The joint venture agreement between the venturers EERAISHEIAUNE EEE] B
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture TEEETHEER 64280
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on HRRESEAABHMREREE
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution. MEX - 5ERAIEE a5 & E

The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the
joint venture agreement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Joint ventures (continued)

24 FESTBRME (&)

I

BEDTE (&)
a

NGIE Ty

A joint venture is treated as:

(a)

a subsidiary, if the Group, directly or indirectly,
controls more than half of its voting power or
issued share capital or controls the composition
of its board of directors; or over which the Group
has a contractual right to exercise a dominant
influence with respect to the joint venture’s
financial and operating policies if the Group has
unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the
joint venture;

a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not
have unilateral control, but has joint control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral
or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly,
generally not less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and is in a position to exercise
significant influence over the joint venture; or

an equity investment accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or
indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and has neither joint control
of, nor is in a position to exercise significant
influence over, the joint venture.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTHBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Jointly-controlled entity

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject
to joint control, resulting in none of the participating
parties having unilateral control over the economic
activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group's interest in jointly-controlled entity are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s
share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
jointly-controlled entity is included in the consolidated
income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of jointly-controlled
entity, which was not previously eliminated or recognised
in the consolidated reserves, is included as part of the
Group’s interests in jointly-controlled entity. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The result of jointly-controlled entity is included in the
Company's income statement to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s interest in
jointly-controlled entity is treated as non-current asset
and is stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity, including an unincorporated
entity such as a partnership, not being a subsidiary or
a jointly-controlled entity, over which the Group has
significant influence.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESHBERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates (continued)

The Group's interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group's
share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated reserves, respectively.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates, which was not
previously eliminated or recognised in the consolidated
reserves, is included as part of the Group's interests in
associates and is not individually tested for impairment.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries,
associates and jointly-controlled entity represents the
excess of the cost of the business combination over the
Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’
identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date
is on or after 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as an asset,
initially measured at cost and subsequently at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. In the case
of associates and jointly-controlled entity, goodwill is
included in the carrying amount thereof, rather than as a
separately identified asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date
/s on or after 1 January 2005 (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill previously eliminated against consolidated
retained profits

Prior to the adoption of the HKICPA's Statement of
Standard Accounting Practice 30 Business Combinations
(“SSAP 30") in 2001, goodwill arising on acquisition
was eliminated against consolidated retained profits in
the year of acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3,
such goodwill remains eliminated against consolidated
retained profits and is not recognised in the income
statement when all or part of the business to which
the goodwill relates is disposed of or when a cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes
impaired.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment property and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for
that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Group;
(i) has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has
joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(0) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESHBERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

(9) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than an investment
property and construction in progress, are stated at
cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure
that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the
values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with
as movements in the property, plant and equipment
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset
basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the income
statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is
credited to the income statement to the extent of the
deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued
asset, the relevant portion of the property, plant and
equipment revaluation reserve realised in respect of
previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as
a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost or valuation of each item of
property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives used
for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms

Generation plant and related 15 years
structure

Furniture, fixtures and 5 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 4 years

Tools and moulds 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the income
statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant
and equipment which are in their acquisition phase
and is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. The acquisition phase of an asset
includes the period when the asset is under construction,
installation and testing. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction together with borrowing costs incurred
during the asset acquisition period that theoretically
could have been avoided if expenditure for the asset had
not been made. The capitalisation of borrowing costs
ceases when substantially all of the activities necessary
to prepare the asset for its intended use are completed.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when it is
completed and ready for use, notwithstanding any delays
in the issue of the relevant commissioning certificates by
the relevant authorities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTHBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment property

Investment property is an interest in land and building
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such property is
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the investment property
is stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the investment property are included in the income
statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal. For
a transfer from investing properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use.

Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the
operating leases are charged to the income statement on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESHBERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments
are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a
finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale
financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The
Group determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value,
plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank
equivalents, pledged time deposits, trade and bills
receivables, available-for-sale investments, financial asset
under Project EC120, loans to associates, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
and derivative financial instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include the financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term. This category includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationship as defined by HKAS 39. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are carried in the statement
of financial position at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the income statement. These net
fair value changes do not include any dividends on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with
the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether
the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate.
When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell
them in the foreseeable future significantly changes,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets
in rare circumstances. The reclassification from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or held-
to-maturity investments depends on the nature of the
assets. This evaluation does not affect any financial
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
using the fair value option at designation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted
for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if
their economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host
contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair
value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the income statement. Reassessment only
occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such
assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in other income in the
income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement in other operating
expenses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in unlisted equity and debt securities and
financial asset under Project EC120 as set out in notes
21 and 20, respectively, to the financial statements.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are
those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended
to be held for an indefinite period of time and which
may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in the market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is
derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss is recognised in the income statement, or until
the investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
income statement and removed from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve. Interest and
dividends earned are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the
income statement as other income in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant
for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed
and used in estimating fair value, such securities are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the
near term are still appropriate. When the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive
markets and management’s intent to do so significantly
changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may elect
to reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances.
Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted
when the financial assets meet the definition of loans
and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to
maturity. The reclassification to the held-to-maturity
category is permitted only when the entity has the
ability and intent to hold until the maturity date of the
financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-
sale category, any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss over the remaining life of the investment using
the effective interest rate. Any difference between the
new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded
in equity is reclassified to the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTHBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired,;

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included
in a collective assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is
the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the income statement. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has
been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESHBERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the income statement, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. The determination of what is “significant”
or "prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment
and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair
value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
investment previously recognised in the income statement
— is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses
on equity instruments classified as available for sale are
not reversed through the income statement. Increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for
sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However,
the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative
loss measured as the difference between the amortised
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that investment previously recognised in the
income statement. Future interest income continues to
be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of
the asset and is accrued using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is
recorded as part of finance income. Impairment losses
on debt instruments are reversed through the income
statement if the increase in fair value of the instruments
can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in the income
statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge,
as appropriate. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
bills payable, other payables, interest-bearing bank
borrowings and financial guarantee contracts.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Interest-bearing barnk borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate method
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of
the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income
statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

“Day 1" profit or loss

Where the transaction price in a non-active market is
different to the fair value from other observable current
market transactions in the same instruments or based
on a valuation technique whose variable include only
data from observable markets, the Group immediately
recognises the difference between the transaction price
and fair value (a “Day 1" profit or loss) in the income
statement. In cases where use is made of data which is
not observable, the difference between the transaction
price and the model value is only recognised in the
income statement when the inputs become observable,
or when the instrument is derecognised.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded
in active markets is determined by reference to quoted
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price
for long positions and ask price for short positions),
without any deduction for transaction costs. For
financial instruments where there is no active market,
the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s
length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially
the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option
pricing models.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, after making due allowance for any
obsolete or slow-moving items. Cost is determined on
the weighted average basis. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =ZBZ N F+=B=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from
goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income over the periods necessary to
match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that
it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the income statement over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(a) from the sale of electric and steam power, based
on actual consumption derived from the reading
of meters during the year;

(b) from the development, manufacture and
distribution of helicopters, when the Group’s
right to receive its share of profit from Project
EC120 has been established (note 20);

(c) from the rendering of services, when the services
are rendered;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(d)

interest income, on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the
rate that discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset;

rental income, on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms;

government grants, on a systematic basis over the
periods necessary to match the grant to the costs
that it is intended to compensate;

income from the sale of coal residues, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold; and

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of
HKFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has
applied HKFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards granted
after 7 November 2002 that had not vested by 1 January
2005 and to those granted on or after 1 January 2005.

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTHBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits
(continued)

Prior to the MPF Scheme being effective, the Group
operated a defined contribution provident fund for
those employees who were eligible and had elected
to participate in the fund. This fund operated in a
way similar to the MPF Scheme, except that when an
employee left the fund prior to his/her interest in the
Group's employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing
contributions payable by the Group were reduced by
the relevant amount of forfeited contributions. Upon
the implementation of the MPF Scheme with effect
from 1 December 2000, the provident fund was frozen
and no further contributions by the Group or the
eligible employees were made after that date. When
eligible employees leave the Group, they receive their
entitlements pursuant to the existing rules of this fund.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. All differences are taken to the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTHHEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
jointly-controlled entity and associates are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period and their income
statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequent
recurring cash flows of the overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of this property which is
leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment property and owner-
occupied property

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continueq)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment property and owner-
occupied property (continued)

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If
these portions could be sold separately (or leased out
separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only if
an insignificant portion is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the
event previously causing the impairment no longer
exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the
area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred that may affect the
asset value or such event affecting the asset value has
not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by the management
to determine the level of impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.
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31 December 2009 ZEZENAF+-A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification of equity investments among investment
in subsidiary, interest in associate and interest in
Jointly-controlled entity

In determining whether an equity investment is classified
as investment in subsidiary, interest in associate and
interest in jointly-controlled entity, the Group considers
a number of factors including (1) whether the Group
has the power to exercise control; (2) whether the
Group can exercise significant influence; and (3) whether
the participating parties have unilateral control over
the operating and financial policies of the investee
company.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As
at 31 December 2009, the carrying amount of goodwill
on the acquisition of a subsidiary was HK$30,493,201
(2008: HK$30,493,201). Further details are included in
note 16 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B} &5 3% Mt &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. As at 31 December 2009, the
amount of unrecognised tax losses was approximately
HK$15,456,000 (2008: HK$15,456,000). Further details
are included in note 32 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. They are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of a financial asset under Project EC120

The Group determines whether the financial asset under
Project EC120 is impaired on an annual basis. The
financial asset has been valued based on discounted
future cash flows generated from the sale of helicopters
covering a 6-year (2008: 7-year) period by applying a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of the
financial asset under Project EC120 at 31 December
2009 was HK$3,459,462 (2008: HK$9,459,462).
Further details are included in note 20 to the financial
statements.

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

Certain of the Group's unlisted investments included in
available-for-sale investments were stated at cost less
impairment because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors are of the
opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there are any indicators of impairment for
these unlisted investments. These unlisted investments
are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.
In determining the recoverable amount, management
considers various factors, such as value in use, available
data for disposing of such assets and other factors
relevant to these unlisted investment. The carrying
amount of the unlisted investments included in available-
for-sale investments which were stated at cost less
impairment at 31 December 2009 was HK$33,230,744
(2008: HK$45,236,030). Further details are included in
note 21 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B} #& 3% M &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value of unlisted investments

The unlisted investments included in available-for-sale
investments which were stated at fair value have been
valued based on the expected cash flows discounted at
current rates applicable for items with similar terms and
risk characteristics. This valuation requires the Group to
make estimates about expected future cash flows and
discount rates, volatility of underlying securities, risk-free
interest rate and other factors relevant to the underlying
securities, and hence they are subject to uncertainty.
The fair value of these unlisted investments included in
available-for-sale investments at 31 December 2009 was
HK$30,053,690 (2008: HK$17,527,703). Further details
are included in note 21 to the financial statements.

Management has estimated the potential effect of using
reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation
model, and considered that the fair values using less
or more favourable assumptions are not significantly
different from the carrying value.
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31 December 2009 ZEZENAF+-A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment, the Group has
to consider various factors, such as expected usage of
the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and
maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on
the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of
the asset is based on the experience of the Group with
similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional
depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/
or the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment are different from previous estimation. Useful
lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of
each financial year based on changes in circumstances.
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
at 31 December 2009 was HK$281,864,870 (2008:
HK$223,474,051). Further details are included in note
14 to the financial statements.

Impairment of trade and bills receivables

The Group maintains an allowance for estimated losses
arising from the inability of its customers to make the
required payments. The Group makes its estimates based
on the ageing of its trade and bills receivable balances,
customers’ creditworthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of its customers
was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss
might be higher than expected, the Group would be
required to revise the basis of making the allowance and
its future results would be affected. The carrying amount
of trade and bills receivables at 31 December 2009 was
HK$32,488,155 (2008: HK$46,772,014). Further details
are included in note 25 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the electric and steam power supply segment
engages in the generation and sale of electric and
steam power; and

(b) Project EC120 segment engages in the share of
profit from the development, manufacture and
distribution of helicopters.

Management monitors the results of its operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted
profit/(loss) for the year. The adjusted profit/(loss) for
the year is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit/(loss) for the year except that head office’s other
income and gains, unallocated finance costs, deficit on
revaluation of an investment property, gain on disposal
of subsidiaries, unallocated share of profits and losses of
jointly-controlled entity and associates, gain on disposal
of an available-for-sale investment, fair value gain/(loss)
on equity investments at fair value through profit or
loss and derivative financial instruments as well as head
office and corporate expenses and unallocated income
tax are excluded from such measurement.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Electric and steam

4. BEHHER (&

nr

power supply Project EC120 Total
ENRERHE EC120%8 &t
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEENE T\ ZBBAE  —IT/\F  CZEBENE  —TI)\H
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FiET FAET FiET FET FAT
Segment revenue: Al
Sales to external customers SMEFRPIEE 227,041 256,070 1,718 4,222 228,759 260,292
Segment results FBEE 6,041 12,016 (5,005) 327 1,036 12,343
Reconciliation: %
Unallocated other income KA EEMBA R
and gains 3 10,133 10,521
Corporate and other EERHMARDERS
unallocated expenses (18,364) (16,595)
Unallocated finance costs AP EEHRR - (149)
Deficit on revaluation RENEEREE
of an investment property (700) (5,900)
Gain on disposal of HERBARLZ
subsidiaries 8 1,205 -
Unallocated share of AAEAERFIR
profits and losses of: BB
Jointly-controlled entity ERIERT] 486 2,165
Associates YN (4,723) 6,593
Gain on disposal of HEAEHENEE Y
available-for-sale b
investments 32,122 13,449
Fair value gain/(loss) on BBBERATEIER
equity investments at BARE RiTH
fair value through profit ~ £BTAZATE
or loss and derivative @/ (&8)
financial instruments 11,366 (12,169)
Profit before tax BB AR 32,561 10,258
Unallocated income tax FARAERAZ
expense (7,855) -
Profit for the year REM 24,706 10,258
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31 December 2009 —EZhE+=-HA=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT 4. REFWER (&
INFORMATION (continued)
Electric and steam
power supply Project EC120 Total
EORFEALE EC1205H &t
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

—B2RhE ZTTN\F ZBEERAE ZTT/\F ZEBEEAE TT/F
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$:000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEx AT TE7 TET TE7 THET

Other segment Rt HEH :
information:
Bank interest income HRITFIBMA 1,687 1,104 192 1,406 1,879 2,510
Unallocated amounts ANEEE 527 9,406
2,406 11,916
Interest income on loans [ A RIHEALED
to associates S B IA - = 1,301 - 1,301 -
Unallocated amounts AOEEE 1,116 -
2,417 -
Depreciation e (16,263) (15,838) (409) 3) (16,672) (15,841)
Unallocated amounts FAMEE (1,291) (597)
(17,963) (16,438)
Finance costs MBHEY (1,570) (6,043) - (1) (1,570) (6,044)
Unallocated amounts APELE - (149)
(1,570) (6,193)
Surplus on 0% - BENRME
revaluation of items HEERRHS
of property, plant and
equipment 1,007 3,701 - - 1,007 3,701
Loss on partial disposal of &M EAABHEA
equity interest in a 3ol
subsidiary - (7,604) - - - (7,604)
Share of profits and HMEBE AR ZEH R
losses of associates B - (155) - = - (155)
Unallocated amounts AOELE (4,723) 6,593
(4,723) 6,438
Impairment of a financial ~ EC12018 2 #1 &
asset under Project RE
EC120 - - (6,000) (2,500) (6,000) (2,500)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

RETRER (&

@)  KEINBEF Kz

2009 2008

ZEBAF —ZTENF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

Mainland China R B A B 228,759 260,292

The revenue information above is based on the
location of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

i mEMDIZERERP
2T E S o

(b) FRBEE

2009 2008

—¥BAE  C—TITNF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Hong Kong B 140,146 143,348
Mainland China ==l l7Npsi) 369,191 324,531
509,337 467,879

The non-current asset information above is based
on the location of assets and excludes financial
instruments.

Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately HK$45,792,000 (2008:
HK$39,058,000) was derived from sales by the electric
and steam power supply segment to a single customer.
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Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =ZBZ N F+=B=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. Wz EMWARFE

GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents
the net invoiced value of electric and steam power sold
and income from Project EC120 for the development,
manufacture and distribution of helicopters.

Was (MEAEB 2 E%%) HiER
BHEHEESNRERZEZFE N
ERERAE RERKCHEIEAK
EC120HB 2 A °

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as

5 HRARMBEIMIAT -

follows:
2009 2008
—EBAE  —TTNH
HK$ HK$
B BT
Revenue Uy &5
Generation and sale of electric FERHEBE IR
and steam power B 227,040,527 256,070,516
Share of profit from Project EC120 AMERBEFRE - BER
for the development, manufacture S =l
and distribution of helicopters EC1203E B Z & A 1,718,434 4,221,752
228,758,961 260,292,268
Other income Habug A
Bank interest income RITHI B WA 2,406,328 11,915,653
Interest income on AR ESZ
convertible bonds B YA 485,535 312,000
Interest income on loans Bk YNCIE =)
to associates Bz FBUA 2,416,799 =
Interest income on other receivable  E th FEULEE 3 > FI| B UG A 932,438 -
Income from installation of LM
infrastructure for steam supply WA 3,805,635 9,701,412
Government grants* BT Bh & * 2,265,960 10,217,822
Income from sale of coal residues HERBEZ WA 2,331,475 3,635,468
Dividend income from JE LA HER
an available-for-sale unlisted KEZREWA
investment 6,937,490 -
Gross rental income e ALz 133,780 802,680
Others Hip 101,009 444,727
21,816,449 37,029,762
Gains F
Gains on disposal of items of HEWE - BRE A
property, plant and equipment HEIEE 2 A 236,172 =
22,052,621 37,029,762

* TN T B 38 P9 B 4R it 2 TR %
BB R RN R B METTZ
RERUT 205 By SR (1t 2 TR BT 76 B)
T - HEBERY AR HESKE
B IR 78 B 0 B A5 RS 2R R A A
EIEWA—THRLR - BRALLEH
By 3 R BRI EARIT 2 5
HFREASEIR -

* Various coal prices subsidies and government grants
relating to anti-pollution research activities in Hangzhou,
the PRC, have been received from the government
authorities in Hangzhou. Government grants received for
which related expenditure has not yet been undertaken
are included in deferred income in the statement of
financial position. There are no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies relating to these grants.
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31 December 2009 ZZEZEAF+=-A=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBIATEA
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBEZBRF A HE MG
(crediting): A
2009 2008
—EENE —EE)N\F
Notes HKS$ HK$
Hfat BT =
Cost of electric and HEE N KRR
steam power supply B AR 210,414,841 238,474,441
Depreciation e 14 17,963,389 16,437,890
Minimum lease payments under TH RAEFEEEL) 2
operating leases on land =EHEE
and buildings 569,833 613,600
Recognition of prepaid land ERIEN L HEER
lease payments 15 728,531 777,903
Employee benefit expense EERFER
(excluding directors’ (TBEEEHe
remuneration (note 8)): (H1at8)) :
Wages and salaries Iﬁ&%ﬁ% 14,125,109 13,896,916
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET R 491,263 456,898
Net pension scheme RN 8T
contributions* 491,263 456,898
Other operating HieeRs
expenses/(income), net: (W A) 558 -
Provision for impairment of trade EBWZEZERAREZEE Y
and bills receivables, net AR FRE 25 427,947 922,680
Write-off of other receivables 4t JrE Uk BR 20 2 18 49,864 75,348
Provision/(write-back of B ERANRE
provision) for financial (B Em R
guarantee contracts 284,091 (1,155,116)
761,902 (157,088)
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - BEM
property, plant and equipment RIBIER 2 B8 - 1,399,488
Auditors’ remuneration ZE RN & 1,300,000 1,330,000
Foreign exchange differences, net  HNE i ¥ =58 %48 (157,429) (761,809)
Rental income on investment KEME BB
property less direct operating WMEEELE
expenses of nil (2008: Nil) AY (ZZEENF &) (133,780) (802,680)

* At 31 December 2009, the Group had no forfeited
contributions available to reduce its contributions to
the pension scheme in future years (2008: Nil).
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Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 —=ZEhE+=A=+—H

FINANCE COSTS 7. HBEX
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBRZ AT
Group
AEHE
2009 2008
—EERF —EENF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Interest on bank overdrafts and ERAFAEIEEZ
bank loans wholly repayable RITBEZRBITERZ
within five years T2 1,570,251 6,192,381
Interest on a finance lease mMEHRE ZFE - 611
1,570,251 6,192,992
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RIE EMARARBBRAERGIFE 161
to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong FERBEsAFESHEMT -
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
AEH
2009 2008
—EThF —EENF
HK$ HK$
ET BT
Fees: e
Executive Directors HITES 224,516 270,554
Non-executive Directors FMITEE 420,000 420,000
644,516 690,554
Other emoluments H A&
(Executive Directors): (BITESE) :
Salaries, allowances and e ERK
benefits in kind = ES 4,137,835 4,108,050
Pension scheme contributions RIKESETEHER 254,040 250,717
4,391,875 4,358,767
5,036,391 5,049,321
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM=E (&
(continued)
(a) Independent Non-executive Directors (a) BIAFHITEE
The fees paid to Independent Non-executive REAZNTELIFNTE
Directors during the year were as follows: E2HESWT
2009 2008
—EEAEF —ZETNEF
HK$ HK$
T BT
Chu Yu Lin, David El 120,000 120,000
Li Zhaoxi ZJKER 60,000 60,000
Li Ka Fai, David BRE 120,000 120,000
300,000 300,000
There were no other emoluments payable to the RERWEE MR TR IENTT
Independent Non-executive Directors during the BN (BT NEFE - &) -

year (2008: Nil).

(b) Executive Directors and a Non-executive (b) BITEER—BFHTEE
Director
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

=31 BIhE
e REVNE TR MemE

2009 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
—BEhE BT BT BT BT
Executive Directors: HITES
Fu Shula (Nt 36,000 - - 36,000
Ji Guirong FEE 36,000 3,425,835 219,000 3,680,835
Ma Zhiping b 36,000 - - 36,000
Liu Rongchun e 36,000 - - 36,000
Pan Linwu EMRE 36,000 - - 36,000
Zhang Chuanjun REE 36,000 712,000 35,040 783,040
Wang Xinkuo FOHE 8,516 - - 8,516
224,516 4,137,835 254,040 4,616,391

Non-executive Director: FENTES
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond EEp 120,000 - - 120,000

344,516 4,137,835 254,040 4,736,391
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EHEMSE (&
(continued)
(b) Executive Directors and a Non-executive (b) HITESER—BHFHUTES
Director (continued) (&)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind  contributions  remuneration
5o ERR Rike
ik =l FTEIfR MeezE
2008 HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
“ZEINE BT BT BT BT
Executive Directors: BITEE:
Fu Shula NEig 36,000 - - 36,000
Wang Xinkuo TOMH 36,000 = = 36,000
Ji Guirong TR 36,000 3,463,600 219,000 3,718,600
Ma Zhiping S 36,000 - = 36,000
Liu Rongchun 2|85 36,000 - - 36,000
Pan Linwu AR 32,586 - - 32,586
Zhang Chuanjun REE 32,586 644,450 31,717 708,753
Diao Weicheng A& 21,968 = = 21,968
Ren Haifeng T 3,414 = = 3,414
270,554 4,108,050 250,717 4,629,321
Non-executive Director: FNTEF
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond e 120,000 - = 120,000
390,554 4,108,050 250,717 4,749,321
There was no arrangement under which a director FANBEMZHEREES
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration WEKREREEAMNE

during the year.
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees included two (2008:
two) directors, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the
remaining three (2008: three) non-director, highest paid
employees for the year are as follows:

hIEmEFES
hEsaEHERREME (ZTTN
F MR ESF REMEZFFH
REXHKHES - =8 (ZFFN
F:ZR) AFRSFHFEFERL
&z BT

Group

REH
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Basic salaries, allowances and EXFHe  EZER

benefits in kind BN & 2,362,000 2,362,000
Pension scheme contributions RIS TR 113,880 113,880
Performance related bonuses T ERIVAABIEAT 220,000 220,000
2,695,880 2,695,880

The number of non-director, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following band is

MEeETIHHREZRSFIHESR
E#A :

as follows:
Number of employees
EEHE
2009 2008
—EENEF —ZETNEF
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,001% 7T — 1,000,000 7T 3 3
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Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =ZBZ N F+=B=+—H

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. No provision for Hong
Kong profits tax had been made as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 December 2008. Taxes on
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions
in which the Group operates.

10.

Fr 8%t

AREERARFRFREBE 2 3t
B 3R B4 F4216.5% 2 B R fE 1
BREBEE - MR AEERBE
—EEN\Ft-AZ+—BLER
A 4 4 (TR B8 2 B SR B
I AR E RIS B - R
4 SR B P2 BB B S A
BEEFEDR, ERESEN 2
GESER

Group

rEHE
2009 2008
ZEBAF —ZTENF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Current — Hong Kong BER — &% 153,054 =
— Elsewhere — Hftbih[= 12,370,763 5,338,452
Deferred (note 32) BRI (B15t32) (144,065) 3,076,938
Total tax charge for the year ANEFIER Y %58 12,379,752 8,415,390
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31 December 2009 ZEZENAF+-A=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax charge for the

year is as follows:

10. FRE®L (&)

BARARRAETEMB AR AER
R/ EBEBEHZEEREFEER
RERBADER(B8R) MREX N
EARFEHRIAS M ZAEHRMAT

Group - 2009
rEE-—ZZhE
Mainland
Hong Kong China Total
i il CH)
HKS$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT
Profit/(loss) before tax REAEF/ (BE) (1,984,723) 39,070,385 37,085,662
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEMERAE Z%RIE (327,479) 7,814,077 7,486,598
Profits and losses attributable DR EEREA
to jointly-controlled entity ‘;ﬁ%Q}TZmﬂ&@ﬂﬁ
and associates (724,198) (123,021) (847,219)
Income not subject to tax BESHHKA (2,241,551) (422,583) (2,664,134)
Expenses not deductible TEIBZAX
for tax 3,446,282 4,958,225 8,404,507
Tax charge for the year KERBRX 153,054 12,226,698 12,379,752
Group — 2008
KEEH - T NF
Mainland
Hong Kong China Total
B A At
HK$ HKS$ HKS
BT BT BT
Profit/(loss) before tax BREANER /(B18) (38,831,614) 57,504,660 18,673,046
Tax at the statutory tax rates BAEHRHE Z%RIE (6,407,216) 10,350,839 3,943,623
Profits and losses attributable DR EEERE A
to jointly-controlled entity 5’#%@72@?”&@5
and associates 1,188,000 (190,408) 997,592
Income not subject to tax BRATRA (2,389,898) (3,832,906) (6,222,804)
Expenses not deductible for AMEMB2AX
tax 7,609,114 2,087,865 9,696,979
Tax charge for the year NERBREY = 8,415,390 8,415,390
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10.

11.

12.

Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 —=ZEhE+=A=+—H

INCOME TAX (continued)

During the 5th Session of the 10th National People’s
Congress, which was concluded on 16 March 2007, the
PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New Corporate
Income Tax Law") was approved and became effective
on 1 January 2008. The New Corporate Income Tax Law
introduces a wide range of changes which include, but
are not limited to, the unification of the income tax rate
for domestic-invested and foreign-invested enterprises at
25%. In addition, for those enterprises benefiting from
lower preferential tax rates, such preferential rates will
be gradually phased out by increasing them to 25% over
five years from its effective date. A preferential tax rate
of 20% (2008: 18%) is applicable to Zhejiang Sealand
Thermoelectric Share-Holding Co. (Zhejiang Sealand”)
and such preferential tax rate will be gradually increased
to 25% in the year 2012.

The share of tax attributable to associates and jointly-
controlled entity amounting to HK$3,429,076 (2008:
HK$2,810,058) and nil (2008: Nil), respectively, is
included in “Share of profits and losses of jointly-
controlled entity and associates” in the consolidated
income statement.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of
the parent for the year ended 31 December 2009 includes
a loss of HK$11,148,218 (2008: HK$15,243,420) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company (note 35(b)).

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of HK$23,772,415 (2008:
HK$1,852,044) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 4,754,397,000 (2008: 4,777,761,578)
in issue during the year.

10.

11.

12.

Frie® (&
RZZEZELF=AF+AHAEMNE
TEZBEARRRAEEARNE R
£ AR ERERE ([
SRR EEME  WRZFTFN
F—A—HBRER - EEMBH
ESIA—RYNEE - BF (ETR
) #BAINERER SR EE—R
25% ° AN HREXMBEER
TEmME  BEREBEENB H
BEAFANEZLS AR E25% M
LEMARERO AR AR (B
B]) BAMNEBEMER/20% (ZF
TN\F 18%) ZEBBHEBZE N
FAEE T ——FH25% °

SEEE AT RAREREAR 2T
H 5 Bl 53,429,076 70 (ZEZEN
%#:2,81005887m) RE(ZZEZ
NE B EREERalkaXre
[7(h H A= R R R QR s
FIREIE] A -

NEEERFEAERGRR

HE-_ZZANF+_A=+—A8H1
FEZRARERFBEEARGEER
Flh - BIETRARBIMBEHREF
211,148,218 70 (ZZZ)\
& 1 15,243,420%70) (A1a£35(b)) °

RFEEEEREA ARG
BRER

BREABFDBRBERA R ERAER
BB AEG AT R F23,772,4157%8
T (ZZEZT /\F 1,852,044 70)
RERB BT @A 2 kT8
4,754,397,000f% (= & & N\ & :
4,777,761,5780%) &
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31 December 2009 =&

12.

13.

ZdlES—H =11

EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. AEEERaBFRAEWN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BRER (&)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(continued)
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings AEERBE_ZTZENEFR_ZEZT
per share amounts presented for the years ended 31 NF+ZA=+—HBLEFELEED
December 2009 and 2008 in respect of a dilution as the BOBCE ST AR ALV EY
Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue ZEFEER2ERERNBT ©FE
during those years. EL B RAEE 2 % -
INVESTMENT PROPERTY 13. REWZE
Group and Company
AEEREQF
2009 2008
—BBAE —TT)\H
HK$ HK$
Er BT
Carrying amount at 1 January RN—A—BZREE 18,300,000 24,200,000
Net loss from a fair value NHERHBZ
adjustment FER (700,000) (5,900,000)
Transfer to owner-occupied EAXTEAYE
property (note 14) (Htst14) (17,600,000) -
Carrying amount at 31 December W+=A=+—HBZEHEE - 18,300,000
During the year, this investment property situated in FRN - ZAMREBBLBEHHBELD

Hong Kong and held under medium term lease has
been taken up by the Company as its office premises
upon the expiry of the operating lease agreement with a
shareholder of the Company, and was transferred to land
and building at its carrying amount of HK$17,600,000
(note 14), based on the valuation performed by the
directors on an open market, existing use basis.

As at 31 December 2008, this investment property
was revalued by BMI Appraisals Limited, independent
professionally qualified valuers, at HK$18,300,000 on
an open market, existing use basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =BZ N F+=B=+—H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND

14. Y% - BENRE

EQUIPMENT
Group
rE
Generation
plant and Furniture,
Construction Land and related fixtures and Motor
in progress buildings structure  equipment vehicles Total
RERE GA #E
REIR IHREF REBRE SET hat:d CH
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
31 December 2009 —EERF+-A=1-H
At 31 December 2008 and  R-ZE\&
at 1 January 2009: +ZA=1+-H
R=ZZNF-A-R:
Cost or valuation B! B 24,283,101 96,671,331 129,297,774 1,603,491 8,602,975 260,458,672
Accumulated depreciation  2FEHTE - (30,380,043) - (1,301,478)  (5,303,100) (36,984,621)
Net carrying amount FEFE 24,283,101 66,291,288 129,297,774 302,013 3,299,875 223,474,051
At 1 January 2009, netof R=ZTAE—F—H -
accumulated depreciation B REHE 24,283,101 66,291,288 129,297,774 302,013 3,299,875 223,474,051
Additions NE 47,970,900 157,640 403,927 1,245,483 2,040,046 51,817,996
Transfer from investment ~ HRAMEEE
property (note 13) (Hit13) - 17,600,000 - - - 17,600,000
Disposals HE - - (3,827) - - (3,827)
Transfers EEbEy (20,671,586) 1,940,528 18,731,058 - - -
Surplus on revaluation ERHRH - - 5,978,354 - - 5,978,354
Depreciation provided FRMERE
during the year - (3,753,910) (12,484,821) (458,493)  (1,266,165) (17,963,389)
Exchange realignment B 5 R 110,377 248,824 587,716 146 14,622 961,685
At 31 December 2009, RZTENE
net of accumulated +-A=t+-8:
depreciation Mk 2iEHeE 51,692,792 82,484,370 142,510,181 1,089,149 4,088,378 281,864,870
At 31 December 2009: RZZENEF
+-A=t+-8:
Cost or valuation A A 51,692,792 116,750,959 142,510,181 2,849,157 9,592,413 323,395,502
Accumulated depreciation 2N E - (34,266,589) - (1,760,008)  (5,504,035) (41,530,632)
Net carrying amount REFE 51,692,792 82,484,370 142,510,181 1,089,149 4,088,378 281,864,870
Analysis of cost or valuation: FXASKEEDT :
At cost RER 51,692,792 116,750,959 - 2,849,157 9,592,413 180,885,321
At 31 December 2009 B-ZTNF
valuation +=RA=t-B2f:fE - - 142,510,181 - - 142,510,181
51,692,792 116,750,959 142,510,181 2,849,157 9,592,413 323,395,502
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31 December 2009 ZZEZEAFE+=-"A=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT
Group (continued)

REE (F)

(continued)

14. Y% - BENRE (&)

Generation
plant and Furniture,
Construction Land and related  fixtures and Motor
in progress buildings structure equipment vehicles Total
REBE B EE
EREIE LTHREF REBR & A8 =H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
31 December 2008 “TZ\F+=A=1+—H
At 1 January 2008: RZZEN\F—A—-R:
Cost or valuation KA E 20,086,600 91,716,499 113,554,603 1,520,103 8,477,838 235,355,643
Accumulated depreciation ~ RFEHE - (25,616,473) = (1,082,673)  (5,920,980) (32,620,126)
Net carrying amount EEFE 20,086,600 66,100,026 113,554,603 437,430 2,556,858 202,735,517
At 1 January 2008, netof R=ZZN\F—F—H "
accumulated depreciation R 2EME 20,086,600 66,100,026 113,554,603 437,430 2,556,858 202,735,517
Additions NE 18,077,743 635,136 2,372,886 83,140 820,785 21,989,690
Disposals HE - (145,604) (1,684,685) - (109,514) (1,939,803)
Transfers =L (15,017,362) - 15,017,362 - - -
Surplus on revaluation EHEH - - 6,811,875 - - 6,811,875
Depreciation provided ERMERE
during the year - (3,282,367)  (12,834,085) (218,508) (102,930)  (16,437,890)
Exchange realignment I 51 A 1,136,120 2,984,097 6,059,818 (49) 134,676 10,314,662
At 31 December 2008, RZZTTN\E
net of accumulated +-A=1+—-8"
depreciation NG2ERE 24,283,101 66,291,288 129,297,774 302,013 3,299,875 223,474,051
At 31 December 2008: RZZTTN\E
+=-A=t-8:
Cost or valuation WA E 24,283,101 96,671,331 129,297,774 1,603,491 8,602,975 260,458,672
Accumulated depreciation ~ RFEHE - (30,380,043 - (1,301,478) (5,303,100)  (36,984,621)
Net carrying amount FEFE 24,283,101 66,291,288 129,297,774 302,013 3,299,875 223,474,051
Analysis of cost or valuation: FXZASEEDT :
At cost B A 24,283,101 96,671,331 - 1,603,491 8,602,975 131,160,898
At 31 December 2008 BR_ZEEN\F
valuation +ZR=+—HZfE - - 129,297,774 - - 129,297,774
24,283,101 96,671,331 129,297,774 1,603,491 8,602,975 260,458,672
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. Y% BEMRKRE (i)

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company
RAF
Furniture,
Land and fixtures and Motor
building equipment vehicle Total
R £E
THREF RE AE Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
31 December 2009 —EZhE
+=H=+—H
At 31 December 2008 and R=-ZZ)\F
1 January 2009: +TZA=+—HK
“ETNF—A—R:
Cost B AR 12,750,000 1,563,337 331,547 14,644,884
Accumulated depreciation ZFEITE (1,200,000) (1,293,419) (248,660) (2,742,079)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 11,550,000 269,918 82,887 11,902,805
At 1 January 2009, netof WH-ZTZEAF—HF—H -
accumulated depreciation 1R 2 E 11,550,000 269,918 82,887 11,902,805
Additions NE - 1,245,484 - 1,245,484
Transfer from investment — B1%& ) 2 &=
property (note 13) (H13) 17,600,000 - - 17,600,000
Depreciation provided FRFTERE
during the year (757,143) (451,375) (82,887) (1,291,405)
At 31 December 20009, RZETNF
net of accumulated +-A=+—8
depreciation Bk 2RBITE 28,392,857 1,064,027 - 29,456,884
At 31 December 20009: RZETNF
+=-—A=+—8:
Cost [5%N 30,350,000 2,808,821 331,547 33,490,368
Accumulated depreciation ZFEHE (1,957,143)  (1,744,794) (331,547) (4,033,484)
Net carrying amount BREFHE 28,392,857 1,064,027 - 29,456,884
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. Y% WEMRKRE (&)
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company (continued)
RATF (&)

Furniture,
Land and  fixtures and Motor
building equipment vehicle Total
Bl EE
T MiEF P& ="} B
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
31 December 2008 —EENF
+-A=+—H~
At 1 January 2008: RZZZENF-A—H:
Cost B 12,750,000 1,515,715 331,547 14,597,262
Accumulated depreciation ZFEITE (900,000)  (1,079,908) (165,774)  (2,145,682)
Net carrying amount BREHE 11,850,000 435,807 165,773 12,451,580
At 1 January 2008, netof WZ-ZENE—A—H -
accumulated depreciation 1k 2FEHE 11,850,000 435,807 165,773 12,451,580
Additions RNE - 47,622 - 47,622
Depreciation provided FRITERE
during the year (300,000) (213,511) (82,886) (596,397)
At 31 December 2008, R-ZTN\F
net of accumulated +=-—A=+—8"
depreciation Nk 2EnE 11,550,000 269,918 82,887 11,902,805
At 31 December 2008: RZEBEE)\F
+—A=+—8:
Cost A 12,750,000 1,563,337 331,547 14.644,884
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (1,200,000)  (1,293,419) (248,660)  (2,742,079)
Net carrying amount RmEFE 11,550,000 269,918 82,887 11,902,805
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Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =BZ N F+=B=+—H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

An analysis of the lease terms of the Group’s and the
Company’s land and buildings is as follows:

14. Y% - BENRE (&)

AREBEARRZ L REFHEB
DHTAT :

Group Company
KEH AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EZhE —TTN\F ZBBhE —TTN\F
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At cost, located in: B AL
Hong Kong, held under BA  RAPBBORE
a medium term lease 30,350,000 12,750,000 30,350,000 12,750,000
Mainland China, held F B A,
under a medium bbb b= =]
term lease 86,400,959 83,921,331 - -
116,750,959 96,671,331 30,350,000 12,750,000

At 31 December 2009, the Group’s generation plant
and related structure was revalued at HK$142,510,181
(2008: HK$129,297,774) by BMI Appraisals Limited on
the open market value and existing use basis, resulting
in a revaluation surplus of HK$5,978,354 (2008:
HK$6,811,875), of which a surplus of HK$4,971,243
(2008: HK$3,111,208) credited
comprehensive income whereas the remaining surplus
of HK$1,007,111 (2008:HK$3,700,667) was credited to
the consolidated income statement.

was to other

Had these generation plant and related structure been
carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, their carrying amounts would
have been HK$118,510,794 (2008: HK$107,922,564).

R—EBEEAE+=-_A=+—8"
AEBREHRERE @R ELF
BERTGHERARKRAAME
RBEBERGEEETENHER
142,510,181% T (Z T T J\ F :
129,297,774% 7t) * AL E £ &
it B # A£5,978354 T (Z T F
N\ % :6,811,875% 7T)» H b &
#4,971243B L (Z T T )\ F:
3,111,208% 7t) & A E b 2 E WK
0 8RN 2 A821,007,11158 7T (=
T T )\ £ : 3,700,667 7t) HIFt A
REWEE -

WMZEBREREREBEREARESL
BRANEBR RREITE RAEEBEEA
Bk - B E SR & FE /118,510,794
BIL(ZEZ)\F 107,922,564
TT) e
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14.
EQUIPMENT (continued)

As at 31 December 2009, certain of the Group’s land
and buildings with a net book value of approximately
HK$22,119,126 (2008: HK$27,446,295) were pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 31(a)(i)).

W% - MENRE (&)

sk b2 ad n Sy » SR B
EE{EA922,119,126/87C (ZTZ)N
& 1 27,446,295870) X AEBEET
THREFLEDER  EALAEE
—RIRITIEE 2R (H7E31@)0)) °

15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15. M LHHEER
Group
AEE
2009 2008
—EENE —ZTENF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZERE 29,823,887 28,921,381
Exchange realignment PE 5, 140,107 1,680,409
Recognised during the year (note 6) FRER (H1it6) (728,531) (777,903)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=—HA=+—H
ZERHE{E 29,235,463 29,823,887
Current portion included in prepayments, REhab(n - B FEFETENS
deposits and other receivables MIE - ke Rk
H A fE UL AR KA (728,531) (725,235)
Non-current portion FETRBNER D 28,506,932 29,098,652

The leasehold land is held under a medium term lease
and is situated in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2009, certain of the Group’s
leasehold land with a net book value of approximately
HK$28,528,341 (2008: HK$29,091,928) was pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 31(a)(ii).
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31 December 2009 —EZEAE+=-HA=+—H

GOODWILL 16. &
Group
rEH
HK$
BT
Cost and carrying amount at 1 January 2008 RZZEZENF—A—H
Z AR EREE 38,116,502
Partial disposal of equity interest in a subsidiary  H & Hf/EB A T ZFD AR A RS (7,623,301)
Cost and carrying amount at 31 December 2008, R=_ZEZENF+_A=+—
1 January 2009 and 31 December 2009 —EZNF—-H—H
=T NF+=-A=+—H
Z A N AREE 30,493,201

As further detailed in note 2.4 to the financial
statements, the Group applied the transitional provisions
of HKFRS 3 that permitted goodwill in respect of business
combinations which occurred prior to 2001, to remain
eliminated against consolidated retained profits.

The amounts of goodwill remaining in consolidated
retained profits, arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries prior to the adoption of SSAP 30 in 2001,
were HK$162,134 as at 31 December 2008 and
2009. The amount of goodwill is stated at its cost of
HK$162,134 which arose in years prior to 1 January
2005.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Zhejiang Sealand
has been allocated to the electric and steam power
supply cash-generating unit, one of the reporting
segments of the Group, for impairment testing.

AR SRR M E2 AP RFAL - A&
BRAEBYBEIRELEREIRNB
BHEGR  ZIERBF_FTFT—F
ZHIEEEHZBHBDAKESEEHE
i A A HIBR e

RZZEZNFR=_ZTEZNF+_A
=+—B: WEHRBAR (R=F
T -FHRAGTTEBERIE309A)
FEEZHEMDARBELRSE B
TR Az &% 5162,134%8 7T ° Itk
162, 134B T EE TR _ET R
—A—BRIEAWIRKAETIE -

B 2 BE R

WHEEBHMASHEE CHEBEHE
EX= ﬁﬁfﬁZﬁiEiiE
(DAEEEFR—FZ2HD ) 1B
BRI o
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16.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The recoverable amount of the electric and steam
power supply cash-generating unit has been determined
based on the value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
senior management covering a five-year period. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 8%
(2008: 8%) and cash flows beyond the first five-year
period are extrapolated using a zero growth rate.

Key assumptions used in its cash flow projections
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill are as
follows:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins
is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budgeted year, increased for
expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent
with external information sources.
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. B R

Company
PN

2009 2008

—EZAF —EENF

HKS HK$

BT BT

Unlisted shares, at cost JEEMIRGD « LA 7,998 8,864
Due from subsidiaries = NGI ] 701,329,876 682,856,674
Due to subsidiaries AN EPNGIE/ S (43,131,904) (67,911,562)
658,205,970 614,953,976

Impairment of amounts due from JE LB /8 2 |) K08

subsidiaries Z A (78,171,415) (78,171,415)
580,034,555 536,782,561

An impairment loss was recognised for amounts due from
subsidiaries with carrying amounts of HK$262,805,000
(before deducting the impairment loss) (2008:
HK$265,183,000) because these subsidiaries had been
loss-making for some time. There was no movement in
impairment of amounts due from subsidiaries during
the current year.

The balances with the subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and are not expected to be repaid within
one year. In the opinion of the directors, the amounts
due from the subsidiaries are considered as quasi-equity
loans to the subsidiaries.

# B M {H262,805,000/8 JT (40
BRREBEEBEM ZZEZT N\ F:
265,183,000/ L) 2 E WK B 2
BIFE CHERRERE - hH
Rz EH BRRESEEE— B
9 o AN4F 37 4 {7 FE AR BT /BB 2 R 3K
B2 RMEZS -

BB AR 2 EARRIBSRE R EE
B 2EREBEAR-—FAREE -E
ERR BUMEBRAREBEARS
B R R B 2 TR s B K
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17.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the end of

YA m g (F)

TEMBARARBE AR IFFL

the reporting period are as follows: s
Nominal value of
Place of issued and fully Percentage
incorporation/ paid-up ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable to
Name and operations share capital the Company Principal activities
ERTRAR
EMRL, EERE/ AN RES
% AR &£ EfRA 2 EE RAEZE AL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# &
Zhejiang Sealand*# PRC/Mainland RMB70,000,000 - 56 Generation and
sk China 70,000,000 AR sale of electric
mE and steam power
B A HENHES
CATIC Helicopter PRC/Mainland HK$42,000,000 - 100 Investment
Development (Shenzhen) China 42,000,000% 7T holding
Limited ("CATIC Helicopter AR BT REER
(Shenzhen)”)*** B0 P 2
FR R B R AR 7S
CRYN) BRATR]
(T B
GRYND L)
Billirich Investment Ltd. British Virgin Us$1,000 100 - Investment
(“Billirich" ¢ Islands/ 1,000 T holding
Hong Kong KEERK
BB
BEHES
B
CATIC General Aviation British Virgin Us$2 100 - Investment
Holdings Limited? Islands/ Ve holding
Hong Kong KEERK
BB
BEHES
B
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31 December 2009 =BZ N F+=B=+—H

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

*

* %

Zhejiang Sealand is registered as a co-operative joint
venture under the PRC law. During the year ended 31
December 2008, the Group disposed of 14% equity
interest in Zhejiang Sealand to an independent third
party at a consideration of RMB12,270,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$13,137,000) and resulted in a loss
on partial disposal of equity interest in a subsidiary of
HK$7,604,122.

CATIC Helicopter (Shenzhen) is registered as a wholly-
foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law.

All the statutory financial statements of these subsidiaries
were not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

During the vyear, the Group disposed of certain
subsidiaries. For the details of these disposals are
included in notes 36, 41(b)(i) and 41(b)(ii) to the financial
statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected

the results for the year or formed a substantial portion

of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive length.

17. WEBRARRER (&)

* *

B RERERBUEGI MR AS
Eh¥ -REE-_ZTNE+—
A=+—HILFE  X&EERE
VEZENEEHATI4%BRA
HEzS - R{E 412,270,000 A R
¥ (K 4913,137,000/87T)
EXHENB AR DO RAER
ZE5187,604,12278 7T °

TR E A ORI B+
EPIEMARINERE

P U ST 8 A RN E TE T 75 3R
RIGFFA L KB B RE ML KE
PR B EZ o

FERAEBHESTHE AR -
ERZSEHENE —SHFBHIN
BF 7 R R M 5536 ~ 41(b)(i) %241(b)

(i)

ERIHEZR/TIEFELAFE
XEIBRASHEEEFEIER
MZARAMBAT - EFRAMH
AP BB AR AN BHIE
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18.

INTEREST IN A JOINTLY- HEZEEARER
CONTROLLED ENTITY
Group
KEH
2009 2008
—EEhE ZZEENF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Share of net assets NIhEEFE 35,350,343 34,863,931
Goodwill on acquisition WEEFTE A 2 7,968,846 7,968,846
43,319,189 42,832,777

As at 31 December 2008 and 2009, the Group has the
right to enjoy certain economic benefits derived from an
independent third party’s 69.4% equity interest in CATIC
Siwei Co., Ltd. ("CATIC Siwei”). Such 69.4% equity
interest in CATIC Siwei was disposed of by the Group
in prior years pursuant to a series of arrangement with
the independent third party at its then carrying amount
and no gain or loss had been generated from the said
disposals. Subsequent to such disposals, the Group was
no longer the shareholder of CATIC Siwei. Pursuant to
the other agreements, the Group had acquired from
such independent third party certain rights derived from
the interest so disposed of as mentioned.

In the opinion of the directors, notwithstanding that the
Group had the rights to enjoy certain benefits from the
69.4% equity interest in CATIC Siwei disposed of by the
Group, with the provisions in the articles and association
of CATIC Siwei, none of the shareholders of CATIC
Siwei has unilateral control over the economic activity of
CATIC Siwei. In view that the Group does not have any
power to control the financial and operating activities of
CATIC Siwei, the directors consider it is appropriate to
account for such rights as interest in a jointly-controlled
entity using the equity method of accounting as at 31
December 2008 and 2009.

The above entity was not audited by Ernst & Young
Hong Kong or other member firm of Ernst & Young
global network.
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INTEREST IN A JOINTLY- 18. HEEZEELATER (£F)

CONTROLLED ENTITY (continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

TRINEAKE KL FZEE QR /M

information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity:

BANHE

2009 2008
—REAE  —TI)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Share of the jointly-controlled entity’s DihHEEZEELRE
assets and liabilities: ZEERBE
Current assets MENEE 9,759 17,913
Non-current assets EmENEE 29,873 24,311
Current liabilities mENEE (4,282) (7,360)
Net assets BEFE 35,350 34,864
Share of the jointly-controlled Dih L EZEEDE
entity’'s results: LEE
Revenue Wz 5,086 1,246
Gross profit E 5 3,027 1,259
Other income EMUA 3,262 3,559
6,289 4,818
Total expenses RIS (5.803) (2,653)
Profit before and after tax BR 75 BT e Bt 15 5 ) 486 2,165
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. B&E QAR
Group Company
KEH XA F]
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEZhE —TTN\F ZBBhE —ITTN\F
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Share of net assets DMEEEFE 86,288,938 92,316,457 - =
Goodwill on acquisition WEERTEE 22 38,863,982 31,363,982 - -
125,152,920 123,680,439 - -
Loan to an associate MBS N RREZ BER
— non-current —3EME 44,888,794 = - =
170,041,714 123,680,439 - —
Loans to associates mEEZE N RIREZER
- current — & 50,138,909 9,048,000 31,048,000 9,048,000
Market value of listed shares Fif% {5 2 H{E 596,427,159 216,882,603

The loan to an associate included in the Group’s non-
current assets amounting to HK$44,888,794 (2008: Nil)
is unsecured, interest-free and is not repayable within

one year.

The loans to associates included in the Group’s and the

Company’s current assets amounting to HK$50,138,909
(2008: HK$9,048,000) and HK$31,048,000 (2008:

BREAESEERBDEENZ M
2N Al IR 2 B 7844,888,7947% 7T
(_gi/\i /) BEEE . 28

\\\\\\

—FREE -

PR BREREAEERANRR R
BEERNzZABEZEARIREBEZER
50,138,909/ 7t (= & & )\ F :

HK$9,048,000), respectively, are unsecured, bear interest
at 3.65% to 7.47% (2008: 3.65%) per annum and are
repayable within one year.
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal associate are as follows:

31 December 2009 —EZEAE+=-HA=+—H

19. BAE&ENTIRER (&)

TEBERBZFBOT

Percentage
of ownership
Particulars Place of interest
of issued incorporation/ attributable
Name shares held registration to the Group Principal activities
AEBEMNG
FEEERT MR mERERER
=L R4 FH1E = 3t 26 BAlt FEEK
Sino Gas Group Ordinary shares Hong Kong 24.59  Operation of petroleum,
Limited of HK$0.2 each & compressed natural
("Sino Gas") Fh%0.257T gas and liquefied
R R E 2 &R petroleum gas
BRAR] refueling stations,
([HmRee]) and trading of gas

The above table lists the associate of the Group which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the

results for the year or formed a substantial portion of

the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

associates would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive length.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

related products
rEQH - BHERAR

KB AmE IR -

AR E BRRAEER

FRINHEERRIERNELRFE
XEIBRASEEEFEIER
MZARBEBERTE - EER/MH
AOIE MBS AR ERRBIDITR

TRINBAREB LR ZHHE

information of the Group's associates: HE
2009 2008
—EERF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets BE 948,130 635,909
Liabilities afE (339,645) (245,412)
Revenues Wz 623,062 220,627
Profit/(loss) wmAlL (EE) (13,985) 10,062
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20.

FINANCIAL ASSET UNDER PROJECT
EC120

The balance represents the carrying value of the Group's
interest in 80% of interest of AVIC International Holding
Corporation (“AVIC International”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, in the net income in
relation to Project EC120 which was acquired from
AVIC International in 2002. Project EC120 is a jointly-
controlled operation established in October 1992 by
AVIC International in co-operation with Eurocopter S.A.
and Singapore Aerospace Ltd., both independent third
parties, to develop, manufacture and globally distribute
the multi-purpose EC120 helicopters.

AVIC International’s net income derived from Project
EC120 is limited to AVIC International’s share of income,
net of all expenses, to be derived from its interest in
Project EC120 in relation to (i) the sale and production
of parts and spares of helicopters and profits accrued to
AVIC International from the sale of helicopters globally;
(i) the recovery of non-recurring costs accrued to AVIC
International; (iii) commission income accrued to AVIC
International from the sale of helicopters by AVIC
International; and (iv) administrative income accrued
to AVIC International from the operations of Project
EC120.
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FINANCIAL ASSET UNDER PROJECT
EC120 (continued)

As the investment represents a contractual right to
receive cash in the future from another enterprise,
the investment has been classified as a non-current
available-for-sale financial asset and stated at cost less
any impairment losses. The allowance for impairment
have been estimated using discounted cash flow analysis
which requires the directors to make estimates about the
expected future cash flows, which are discounted at the
current rate of 8% (2008: 8%).

During the year, having considered the future cash flows
and profit forecasts of Project EC120, the directors
made a provision for impairment of HK$6,000,000
(2008: HK$2,500,000) which was recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the current year.

The cost less accumulated impairment losses of the
financial asset is analysed as follows:

20.

ECI20BEBE 2 I B EE
(&
BRZEREEBRKS —REHE
WIS 2 A 4ER @ tZRE
ENEAERSAIHEENTKE
EE 0 N B3R RS R(E R RLE B 1R
R - BMEREBE R Tﬁiﬁiﬁéﬁi

DHThET - WiKR8% (ZFE )\ F :
8%) HIRBNLL RITIR - Z AT EK

EEEHLEBEESRRARBREREZ
A5t °

FER - KEBECI20B B 2R KE
eRERBMNIERE  EEEHEL
SR B # #56,000,00058 ¢ (ZZEE )N
F 12,500,000/ 7T) *© R F N R ER
B FRIER -

PBEEZRARERBERESEZ
DR ¢

Group
rEE
HK$
BT
Cost: B
At 1 January 2009 and 31 December 2009 RZZEZNF—H—H
R-EEAE+=A=+—H 39,759,462
Accumulated impairment: ZBERE :
At 1 January 2009 RZZETZNF—H—H 30,300,000
Impairment during the year FANRE 6,000,000
At 31 December 2009 R-ZEZNF+-A=+—H 36,300,000
Carrying amount: AREE :
At 31 December 2009 R-BEAF+=A=1+—H 3,459,462
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF+-_A=+—H 9,459,462
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21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 21. At HENRKE

Group Company
EE RAFE
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EENFE ZTTN\F CZBEAE ZIZTT)N\HF
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT BT
Non-current; FERE :
Unlisted investments, FELEMFE KA
at cost (note (a)) (Hfi#(a)) 33,230,744 45,236,030 - -
Unlisted investments, FEMRE
at fair value: /NS
New Sino Gas Bond P mR e ES
(note (b)) (Hzt b)) 25,200,663 - - -
Club debentures @ES 4,853,027 2,162,896 2,680,300 =
63,284,434 47,398,926 2,680,300 =
Current: e
Unlisted investments, FELEMEE
at fair value: BAF(E
Old Sino Gas Bond EmZaES
(note () (Kt () - 15,364,807 - -
Notes: Hiaz -
(a) These unlisted investments consist of investments in (a) WEIFEEMIREBTEIEEATH#

equity securities which were designated as available-
for-sale investments and have no fixed maturity date
or coupon rate. These investments were stated at cost
less impairment because the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is so significant that the directors are of
the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured
reliably.
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AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 21. Af{fHENKE (&)

(continued)
Notes: (continued) izt - (&)
(b) On 3 March 2009, Billirich entered into an agreement (b) RZZZNE=HF =8 - Billirich

SRR RT L ABA

with Sino Gas to purchase convertible bonds (the
“New Convertible Bond”) issued by Sino Gas with
an aggregate principal amount of HK$27,500,000.
The New Convertible Bond bears interest at 2% per
annum, is convertible into ordinary shares of Sino Gas
at HK$0.2 per share (subject to adjustment upon the
change in capital structure of Sino Gas) and will mature
in two years from the date of the issuance of the New
Convertible Bond. Assuming a full conversion is made
by Billirich, the New Convertible Bond can be converted
into 137,500,000 ordinary shares of Sino Gas.

The New Convertible Bond is a hybrid instrument
that includes a non-derivative host contract and an
embedded derivative. The non-derivative host contract,
representing the bond component (the “New Sino Gas
Bond”), has been designated as an available-for-sale
investment. The embedded derivative, being a derivative
financial instrument (the “New Embedded Derivative
Asset”), represents the conversion option which allows
Billirich to convert the New Convertible Bond into
ordinary shares of Sino Gas at an established conversion
rate (i.e., HK$0.2 per share) before the maturity date of
the New Convertible Bond.

As at 15 April 2009 (the issue date of the New
Convertible Bond), the fair value of the New Sino Gas
Bond was stated at HK$15,071,875 based on valuation
performed by independent professionally qualified
valuers. As at 31 December 2009, the fair value of
the New Sino Gas Bond was stated at HK$25,200,663
based on valuation performed by independent
professionally qualified valuers, and a fair value gain of
HK$10,128,788 in respect of the New Sino Gas Bond
was recognised as other comprehensive income during
the year.
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21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

() On 25 January 2007, Billirich entered into an agreement
with Sino Gas to purchase a convertible bond (the “Old
Convertible Bond”) issued by Sino Gas with a principal
amount of HK$15,600,000. The Old Convertible Bond
bore interest at 2% per annum, was convertible into
ordinary shares of Sino Gas at HK$0.633 per share
(adjusted upon the change in capital structure of Sino
Gas) and matured on 18 March 2009.

The Old Convertible Bond was a hybrid instrument
that included a non-derivative host contract and an
embedded derivative. The non-derivative host contract,
representing the bond component (the “Old Sino Gas
Bond”), had been designated as an available-for-
sale investment. The embedded derivative, being a
derivative financial instrument (the “Old Embedded
Derivative Asset”), represented the conversion option
which allowed Billirich to convert the Old Convertible
Bond into ordinary shares of Sino Gas at an established
conversion rate (i.e., HK$0.633 per share) before the
maturity date of the Old Convertible Bond.

As at 31 December 2008, the fair value of the Old
Sino Gas Bond was stated at HK$15,364,807 based
on valuation performed by independent professionally
qualified valuers. As at 18 March 2009 (maturity date of
the Old Sino Gas Bond), the fair value of the Old Sino
Gas Bond was HK$15,600,000 and a fair value gain of
HK$235,193 (2008: HK$510,402) in respect of the Old
Sino Gas Bond was recognised as other comprehensive
income during the year.

During the year, the gross gain in respect of the Group’s
available-for-sale investments recognised in other
comprehensive income amounted to HK$10,363,981
(2008: loss of HK$9,947,598), of which HK$1,313,605
(2008: Nil) was reclassified from other comprehensive
income to the income statement for the year.
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21.

22.

Notes to Financial Statements B} %% 5 3% M &

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(continued)

The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale investments
have been estimated using valuation techniques based
on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market price or rates. The valuation requires the directors
to make estimates about the expected future cash flows
including expected future dividends, risk-free rate and
the credit spread of the underlying share. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from
the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the
related changes in fair value, which are recorded in
other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that
they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

DEPOSIT FOR ACQUISITION OF AN
INVESTMENT

Group and Company

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group
entered into an agreement with a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Sino Gas and an independent third party
to set up a company in the PRC and a deposit had
been paid as at 31 December 2008. As at 31 December
2008, the directors were still in the process of obtaining
relevant approvals from the relevant authorities. During
the year, the aforesaid approvals were obtained, and
the relevant deposit had been reclassified as interest in
associate.

31 December 2009 =&

22.
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23.

24.

ZdlES—H =11

DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. BEERHEMBEWERR
RECEIVABLES
Group
XEH
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENEF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Deposits and other receivables 2 I E U AR K - 20,466,063
None of the above assets was either past due or LR EERECABHERE - H‘
impaired. The financial assets included in the above A bt 2 BT E E B & &R
balances related to receivables for which there was no AVE 2 FEY AR XA A -
recent history of default.
INVENTORIES 24. 7E
Group
rEE
2009 2008
—EEAF —ZEENF
HK$ HK$
Er BT
Raw materials Rt 13,945,119 31,359,134

At 31 December 2009, no inventories were pledged as

security for the Group’s bank borrowings (2008: Nil).
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Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =ZBZ N F+=B=+—H

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 25. ERESRIAREE

Group
REE
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Trade and bills receivables EWE SRR EE 33,890,815 47,742,317
Impairment BB (1,402,660) (970,303)
32,488,155 46,772,014

The Group’s trade receivables mainly represent the
receivable from the sale of electric and steam power.
The Group's trading terms with these customers are
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period is generally 60 days, extending up to 90 days
for major customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AEBZREEZFHRERTIERHE
BEARZEAZEERE - AEEH
REBEFPZEEMREIERREK
W E PRI GhEP —RFBEREA
IR - FEH—RABE0K - HRE
EXFPRZILEHIOKR - BUEFH
REZAREERSE - AEEHKKY
RBEEZBBEREREREE
YHEA—FEEEERMM - EEER
RREKE - TESETHRTE
ek  ERUA LA RAEE 2
BRESERIKAREDHZE
FHEE AUHIEEANEESESD
R o BUE SRR EAEFE
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25. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 5. ERESRARARKREE
(continued) (&)
An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at RBEHRAR BRESFERERZER
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice ZEBE QBRI EE 2 RGO T
date and net of provisions, is as follows: N
Group
rEE
2009 2008
—EENF —EET)NF
HK$ HK$
ET BT
Current BN 26,910,416 38,742,906
31-60 days 31-60H 3,619,402 4,786,512
61-90 days 61-90H 745,850 2,388,590
Over 90 days 90BH XA k£ 1,212,487 854,006
32,488,155 46,772,014

The movements in provision for impairment of the trade

R R 5 PR K R TR 2 R A

and bills receivables are as follows: AT

Group

AREE
2009 2008
—EEREF —EENF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January n—HA—H 970,303 20,377
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) MBS IEHER (fit6) 427,947 922,680
Exchange realignment PEE 5, =& 4,410 27,246
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 1,402,660 970,303
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Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =ZBZ N F+=B=+—H

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Included in the above provision for impairment of
trade and bills receivables is a provision for individually
impaired trade and bills receivables of HK$1,402,660
(2008: HK$970,303) with a carrying amount before
provision of HK$1,402,660 (2008: HK$970,303). The
individually impaired trade and bills receivables relate
to customers that were in financial difficulties and
the receivables is not expected to be recovered. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that

25.

FEREZRARARRE

=
—==1

=

1=

STALMEWE ZERREEZR
ERECEXRENREZEKES
IR R E B 2 #151,402,6607% T
(ZZEZ/)\F : 970,303 70) @ #E
AT BRI {H 51,402,660 7L (—ZEE
J\EF 970,303 7T) @RI 1E 2
FEWR B 5 8RR &% 22 05 B T G B 15
HeBPEMRZEWIERERTES
A] FULEl o AN B A R A % Lk 4 B
2 EREAAERSEMEERA

ABRERBEZEREE SRR LR

are not considered to be impaired is as follows: BZBRELITAT ¢

Group

AEE
2009 2008
—EZThF —ZEENF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Neither past due nor impaired RN R RE 30,529,818 43,529,418
Less than 1 month past due #HDR—EA 745,850 2,388,590
1 to 3 months past due BmE—=={FH 1,212,487 854,006
32,488,155 46,772,014

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified customers for which
there is no recent history of default.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to
a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances.

AR 380 HR I RO (B 2 A B R B AR
SREEFPER  ZBEFPESRE
ERESL

£ 780 5 1) AR ORL B 2 8 U AR B R
ZRAKERARIFBERERZE
NEFER REBELR AR

HAEFRRERE FEELEHE
ERBYPRERBDERSA2E
YemEl - REBI RN ZLEHRZ £
FAEMERAREMEERT -
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 26. FAMNINIE - ZE&RHME
OTHER RECEIVABLES W BR =X
Group Company
rEE P NG|
2009 2008 2009 2008
“2BNFE -TE\F CERAE —TI)\F
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Prepayments B FA 16,185,904 4,216,707 890,759 692,478
Deposits and other e REA R
receivables BRI 65,559,363 34,770,208 2,774,816 1,718,287

81,745,267 38,986,915 3,665,575 2,410,765

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. L EEHREEERASRE - &
The financial assets included in the above balances AL BB EERESIIRE
relate to receivables for which there is no recent history HIFESL R R IR SR A B
of default.
27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 27. PTEEMIA
INSTRUMENTS
Group
rEE
2009 2008
—EBNF —ET)N\F
HK$ HK$
B BT
Asset: BE
New Embedded Derivative Asset HMARITEBE 23,794,178 -
The Group's derivative financial instruments are managed ANEEZITESRT A NRAT(E
and their performance are evaluated on a fair value HESE R (E o (LA T(EFE
basis. Any fair value gains or losses were recognised in S E IR AU SR N HER o

the income statement.
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The New Embedded Derivative Asset represents the
derivative embedded in the New Convertible Bond as
detailed in note 21(b) to the financial statements. As at 15
April 2009 (the issue date of the New Convertible Bond),
the fair value of the New Embedded Derivative Asset was
stated at HK$12,428,125 based on valuation performed
by independent professionally qualified valuers. As at 31
December 2009, the fair value of the New Embedded
Derivative Asset was stated at HK$23,794,178 based
on valuation performed by independent professionally
qualified valuers, and a fair value gain of HK$11,366,053
in respect of the New Embedded Derivative Asset was
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments have
been estimated using valuation techniques based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The valuation requires the directors to
make estimates, including expected cash flows and
volatility of the underlying securities. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from
the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the
related changes in fair values, which are recorded in the
consolidated income statement, are reasonable, and that
they are the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

27.

TEEMTIA (&

MBMARNITEEERR AR
BRESZ2TETE  #FEHNEH
BHmERKF21b)c RZZETNF
MA+HRHB Ghal iR ESHE1TH
H)  FIRARNTEEEZ ATER
BUEXAERGEMAEHES
12,428,125 70 c RZZE T NF +
ZA=+—8 FHRAATEEE
ZATFERBYEESERGERM
Fff E {5 18 /523,794,178 7t * A
B BRARTEEE 2R FEFE
11,366,053 L E RN A W= KA

TEEBMTAZAFEIFAGE
BRMREERZME LR MEEFER
RUEFBABERMIZEBIE RIEX
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ERGEEAKRERTSEMESS
FBIMRER AR 2 At AFE - R
REHFERERARZBERTE
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28. BERBESESEHECER
AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS L
Group Company
biN-c | ¥ NG
2009 2008 2009 2008
“RRAE  CET\FE CREBAE CTINF
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HKS
B BT B BT
Time deposits EHER 264,282,660 360,183,792 42,002,754 147,366,917
Less: Pledged short term time i : B 4105 I BiT7 3%
deposits (note 31(a)(iii)) (Ba31(a)(iii) (45,051,137)  (53,671,663) - =
219,231,523 306,512,129 42,002,754 147,366,917
Cash and bank balances BeRRTHEE 111,247,128 44,222,389 52,064,827 10,282,035
Cash and cash equivalents B4 REL% 330,478,651 350,734,518 94,067,581 157,648,952

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
bank balances and the time deposits of the Group
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
HK$103,445,501 (2008: HK$86,982,675). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.
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30.

Notes to Financial Statements B #% 3% 3k K{ 5

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

31

29

December 2009 —EZENE+=-HA=+—H

. ERESRIRARRE

RBEHKR BENEIRERRARERE
BERRBHZIRERDITAOT

Group

AEH
2009 2008
—EBNF —EENEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current BNEA 108,026,419 112,427,624
31-60 days 31-60H 2,907,509 3,099,989
61-90 days 61-90H 80,673 332,709
Over 90 days 90H A E 1,683,575 1,764,537

112,698,176 117,624,859

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on 90-day terms.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an
average term of three months.

30.
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= 4= =)
31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 31. T EBITER
BORROWINGS
Group
£E
2009 2008
“EENE —EENF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%)  Maturity HKS$ rate (%) Maturity HK$
BRFIZE(%) E)i)= BT BEFE(%) Ealpi]=! BT
Bank loans - secured  R{TEH — HHEH 5.57-5.84 2010 28,409,091 8.22 2009 29,411,765
Notes: Mzt -
(a) As at 31 December 2009, the Group'’s banking facilities (a) RZZBZENF+_A=+—8"
were secured by: AEEZRITEENA TS IEE
RER
(i) pledges of certain of the Group’s land and (i) IR B AR FE 4R
buildings with an aggregate net book value #49/422,119,1267%8 7T (=
of approximately HK$22,119,126 (2008: =TT N\ F 27,446,295
HK$27,446,295) (note 14); BL) 2ETLMRET
(Hizt14) s
(ii) pledges of certain of the Group’s leasehold (ii) IR AR BERE F AL
land with an aggregate net book value of #9/428,528,3417%8 7T (=
approximately HK$28,528,341 (2008: = ZT )\ F 29,091,928
HK$29,091,928) (note 15); and BIT) 2 BE L (M7
15) i &
(iif) pledges of certain of the Group's short term (iii) ST N = "B #
time deposits amounting to HK$45,051,137 45,051,1378 L (ZTZ
(2008: HK$53,671,663) (note 28). J\ £ : 53,671,663/ 7T)
2 ETRETEBRER (A
i28) °
As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s short term bank RZEZEARF+ZA=+—
loans of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately H AEBEzEBRITER
HK$4,545,455) (2008: RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to 4,000,000t A R# (HHER A
approximately HK$11,312,217)) were guaranteed by 4,545,455 70) (Z BT )\ F ¢
independent third parties. 10,000,0007T A R # (FHEFER L

11,312,217870)) HENFE =4
IREER o

(b) All bank borrowings are denominated in RMB. (b) FIERITEELAARKEE -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s current borrowings AEBENMBAEEZ REMEELQYT
approximate to their fair values. BEFEE -
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DEFERRED TAX 32. EERIE
The movements in the Group’s deferred tax liabilities AEBELEHBEEERERAZES
during the year are as follows: LU
Deferred tax liabilities
EERIEE F
Group
AEE
Revaluation of
property, plant
and equipment
BEHWE
EAEE
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2008 RZZEZNF—H—H 3,721,118
Deferred tax charged to the income statement FAREWRZRIR ZELEFE IR
during the year (note 10) (B1a£10) 3,076,938
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December RZEBEZENF+_A=T—"HK
2008 and 1 January 2009 —ETEAF—H—RAZ
BRI B B 6,798,056
Deferred tax credited to the income statement FAFFARRER ZIELEFRIE
during the year (note 10) (Biz£10) (144,065)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December R=TFEhAE+=BA=+—HZ
2009 EEHELEEE 6,653,991

At 31 December 2009, the Group had aggregate tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$15,456,000
(2008: HK$15,456,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in the Company that has been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

RZEZHhFE+-_A=+—H ' =K
EEEEBELECARABERY
#15,456,0008 L (Z T T )\ & :
15,456,000/ 7T) * AIA{EHEHHER
BIEARZRRERTREF - AR
ZEBEREEBHERBEZA
~aE MBI TRERRER ERT
i I LA B E) FA B T B 18 - Bt IF 4
BRBELEHIBAE -
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32.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement has
become effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
Mainland China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group
is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2009, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is
not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

32.

EIERLIR (42)

BETECEMRSHE EPEK
MZINERERINEREETIRZ
I8 B ABURI0% B - ZHEER
—EEN\F-A—BEH #BAR
—TTHF+_A=t+—H%BZK
oo WP B EANB IR B E 2 REE
BRIBBRKBE  HAUHKAREZ
EMHE - HAEEmS - BAMH
EE10% ° NEBEREMmE/EFREH
R ZHBRARIE ST NF—
A—BREAZW=EMDIRZRE
APEFBINT

R-ETAF+-A=+—8 ¥
42 9 7 4 B o LA 7 2 I 2 )
2 R 28 B AT 2 AR R
EIEBE - RERB - ZEHEL
AT R R HD RS -

AN A B [ BCER IR B B B0 Y A AT
AFEHERR -

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. BRA
Company
b YN

2009 2008

—EENF ZETNF

HK$ HK$

B BT

Authorised: JEIE ¢
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares 10,000,000,000R% &A% E &
of HK$0.10 each 0.10% 7T 2 LAk 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000

BEETRAR
4,754,397,000/% S A% E (B
0.10% 72 E A%

Issued and fully paid:
4,754,397,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each

475,439,700 475,439,700
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting held on 14 May 2001,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2001
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations.

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2001 Scheme on 14
May 2001, the Stock Exchange introduced a number
of changes to Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) on share option schemes. These new rules came
into effect on 1 September 2001. In compliance with the
amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, a new share
option scheme (the “Existing Scheme”) was adopted by
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 13
May 2003 and at the same time the 2001 Scheme was
terminated. Since the adoption of the Existing Scheme,
no options have been granted thereunder.

Major terms of the Existing Scheme include:

1. The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to provide
incentives to the participants.
2. The participants of the Existing Scheme

are individuals being employees, officers
or consultants of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries including any executive or non-

executive directors thereof.

34.

B IR T &

E-TT-FRATHARTLK
REEARL  ARTEAT 8
B & (1200151 8))) - 1%
B B3R SR R MR 2 R
ASZARBERE -

20015t EIR 2T —F R A+MA
BRNE - BXRBRATES L
mRA ([ EWRA]) B17E6@E
RETE 2 RESIAZIEER ' B
—EE-FNA—ARBREWM- BE
FLEMBRANEI17TELET ZHRE
AAGHE_ZET=FAA+=H%
AZBREBAFRE LRMNS —IEH
AR R & (3R AT &) IR
#R1E20015T 8 - BRAFFEEIL
R AWK L ET IR A R AR A -

REFEZ T2 GREBE

1. BRAHBEEMSEEZRY
) -

2. REME228ELEART
FEERAMBARZES
SABEIERZEA K
PEEBEEAATHIFEATE
=
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

3

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Existing Scheme and the 2001 Scheme
(collectively the “Schemes”) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company
in issue as at the date of approval of the Existing
Scheme. The Company may refresh this 10%
limit at any time subject to prior approval by its
shareholders in a general meeting. The overall
limit on the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
and yet to be exercised under the Schemes must
not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company at any time. No options may be granted
if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options (whether exercised,
cancelled or outstanding) granted under the
Schemes in any 12-month period immediately
preceding any proposed date of grant of option
to each participant must not exceed 1% of the
share capital of the Company in issue as at the
proposed grant date.

Options may be exercised at any time during
a period of 10 years commencing on the date
falling three to six months after the date of
grant.

A grant of an option must be accepted within
28 days from the date of grant together with a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

v/ The exercise price of an option to subscribe for
shares granted pursuant to the Existing Scheme
shall be the highest of:

(a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant, which must be
a business day;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

8. The Existing Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on 13
May 2003 and thereafter for as long as there
are outstanding options granted and accepted
pursuant thereto prior to the expiration of the
said 10-year period and in order to give effect to
the exercise of any such options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Notwithstanding the termination of the 2001 Scheme,
the relevant provisions thereof remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of any outstanding share options granted
thereunder prior to its respective expiry.

31 December 2009 —EZEAE+=-HA=+—H

34. BRERTE (&)
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Sl mE

() BhHERLAH (AR
BEH) EERBRA
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)  34.

The following share options were outstanding under
the 2001 Scheme during the year ended 31 December

B ESTE (F)
REE-TENE+-A=+-H
L4 - 200131 81T R T2 2 B

2008: el JUNNE
2008
—ETENEF

Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
INHEFITTREE BRRERAE

HK$ per share

BB T
At 1 January R—H—H 0.13 42,000,000
Expired during the year F [ 21| B N/A 38 (42,000,000)
At 31 December R+=—HA=+—8 -

At the end of the reporting period and at the date of
approval of these financial statements, there were no
share options outstanding.

35. RESERVES 35.

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior
years are presented In the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 42 to 43 of this
annual report.
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35. RESERVES (continued)

(a)

Group (continued)

Pursuant to the articles of association of a
subsidiary operating as a co-operative joint
venture in Mainland China and the relevant
PRC Company Law, the subsidiary shall make an
allocation from its profit after tax at the rate of
10% to the statutory surplus reserve fund, until
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital
of the subsidiary. Part of the statutory surplus
reserve may be capitalised as the subsidiary’s
registered capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than
25% of the registered capital of the subsidiary.
The statutory reserve is non-distributable other
than in the event of liquidation.

Certain amounts of goodwill arising on the
acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years remain
eliminated against consolidated retained
profits, as explained in note 16 to the financial

statements.

35. fi#tE (&)

(a)

REH (£)

BREBE-FKRPBEKRENASE
CETALEZHMBRRZ
NAERENABSERBE
5l - %M B R A A E R B
BEMZ210%EEEE A TE
T BEERBREHEEEZM
BRI M EARZ50% ° #
MEERETAIRETEARS
B ABIRA - EREERN
L& 2B T HEBRT DR &M
BRREMEANZ225% ° B
BRI EEREETRFED
i °

00 B 7% HR AR B RE 16 AT A
FEREFEWENE QR
EENETERIBEDA
EiRE B MmN AR
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35. RESERVES (continued)

35. fi#tl (&)

(b) Company (b) Z&2A7F
Share
premium  Contributed Retained
account surplus profits Total
RDBERE BAER BFaA L
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2008 RZZENE—F—B 194,444,479 5243,300 91,026,389 290,714,168
Repurchase of shares EAE ) (474,313) - - (474,313)

FRZEREER

Total comprehensive
income for the year

- (15,243,420)  (15,243,420)

At 31 December 2008 and RZZZ)\F

1 January 2009 TZA=+-8k
—ZTNFE-A-H
Total comprehensive FRZEKRASE

income for the year

193,970,166

5,243,300 75,782,969 274,996,435

- (11,148,218)  (11,148,218)

At 31 December 2009 i

=

ETNEF
s

_I_

+—H 193,970,166

5,243,300 64,634,751 263,848,217

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the excess of the consolidated net
asset value of Far East Aluminium (B.V.l.) Limited
on 20 November 1991 when its entire issued
share capital was acquired by the Company
pursuant to a group reorganisation, and the
nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued
in consideration for such acquisition, net of
accumulated losses of the Company set off in the
prior years. Under the Companies Act of 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus
of the Company is distributable to shareholders
under certain circumstances.

The Company’s share premium account of
HK$193,970,166 (2008: HK$193,970,166) as
at 31 December 2009 may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. HEMHNELQH
2009
—EENE
HKS$
BT
Net assets disposed of: EHECEEFE :
Property under development BERAPYF 8,803,177
Available-for-sale investments A HENRE 4,169,328
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERIE © Re R H M EWARSK 8,039,909
Cash and bank balances e RIBITHET 954,115
Other payables and accruals b B FRIE R ST B (10,714,477)
Amounts due to minority shareholders FERT DR R FRIE (7.034,976)
Minority interests DB R R 33,003
4,250,079
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE B A 7 2 F 1,205,027
5,455,106
Satisfied by: SRA
Cash RE 5,455,106
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents LTEMNBAR 2R RRESEFER
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: NEFBOFTHOT :
2009
“EBEBAF
HKS$
BT
Cash consideration RERE 5,455,106
Cash and bank balances disposed of BEHECRe RIRITET (954,115)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HEMBARZERES &
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries REFEMANFE 4,500,991
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

(i)

(i)

(iii)

During the year, the Group’s deposit
for acquisition of an investment of
HK$61,165,927 were reclassified to
interests in associates. Further details
are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements.

During the vyear, the Group’s non-
current deposits and other receivables of
HK$7,500,000 was reclassified to interests
in associates.

During the year, the Group’s purchase of
New Convertible Bond of HK$27,500,000
was partly settled by the proceeds from
redemption of Old Convertible Bond of
HK$15,600,000.

During the year ended 31 December
2008, the Group’s available-for-sale
investment of HK$35,295,750 and equity
investment at fair value through profit or
loss of HK$57,785,400 were reclassified
to interests in associates.

During the year ended 31 December 2008,
the Group's deposit for acquisition of
an investment of HK$20,029,325 and
interests in associates with carrying amount
of HK$19,501,317 were reclassified to
interest in jointly-controlled entity.

During the year ended 31 December
2008, the Group's other receivable from a
company beneficially owned by a director
of Sino Gas amounted to HK$5,673,000
was reclassified to equity investment at
fair value through profit or loss.
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(a)

BEXFRERS

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

FR AEERER
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 37.. e R ERERKE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (&
(continued)
(b)  Restricted cash and cash equivalent (b) ERHARERAEZEER

balances

Certain of the Group’s time deposits are pledged
to banks to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group, as further explained in note 31(a)(iii)
to the financial statements.

Certain of the Group's cash and cash equivalent
balances are not freely convertible into Hong
Kong dollars (note 28).

38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

As lessor

In the prior year, the Group and the Company
leased their investment property (note 13) under
an operating lease arrangement with a lease
negotiated for terms ranging from one to two
years.

At 31 December 2008, the Group and the
Company had total future minimum lease
receivables under a non-cancellable operating
lease with its tenant falling due as follows:

38. &&

(a)

AEEZETERFRER
WFRT UERAEEE
B2RITEE #E—THE
A B s R M EE3 1 (a) i) ©

REBZETRERRESE
BEEHTATEHBRLBEEET
(B1:£28) »

B Z= B
fER A A

BAEFE  AEEREAR
BEAHEEAE—EMFEZ
RERNTHEDLHEBREDME
(H1a13) »

R-BEBENFET_A=1T—
B AKERARBRER
MBPEILN F AT F B S| E
ZAAHEEEHENZERAB
BRHEAKEREWE S ABEHR
SR -

Group

and Company
FEERERDT
2008
=t
HK$

BT

Within one year

— &R

133,780
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38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS  38.

(continued)
(b) As lessee

The Group and the Company leases its office
premises under non-cancellable operating lease
arrangements with terms ranging from one to
two years.

At 31 December 2009, the Group and the
Company had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

REHNZH (2)

ERFERA
AREBRARNBEEEFTL
TRIBEEEMORZH - B
WA —EmFEZM -

RZZEZENF+_A=+—
B BENTFATFEHE S
ZAARGEHEERLY  ~E
EERAARFAEBEBEOR
REMHES@EHTWT

Group and Company

AEERAEARQT

2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HKS$ HK$
ET BT
Within one year —FR 453,600 564,000

In the second to fifth years, E_FEERFNA
inclusive BHEEEMRF - 12,000
453,600 576,000

39. COMMITMENTS 39. =

In addition to the operating lease commitments in note
38(b) above, the Group had the following commitments
at the end of the reporting period:

B b XM 5E38(b) 2 £ & M 49 A& 4
F AEERHRE ARG AT AR

Group

AEE
2009 2008
—EBEAF —EENF
HK$ HK$
B BT

Contracted, but not provided for: ERENEIGESETE
Acquisition of plant and machinery W E M2 16,749,443 4,676,600
Establishment of a joint venture AL & & RTR) (HaE)

(note) 45,454,545 45,248,869
62,203,988 49,925,469
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COMMITMENTS (continued)

Note:

On 4 January 2006, Sino-Aviation Investments Limited
(“Sino-Aviation Investments”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a joint venture agreement
(the ”JV Agreement”) with AVIC International, a
substantial shareholder of the Company, and Chengdu
Aircraft Industry (Group) Corporation Ltd. (“Chengdu
Aircraft”), for the establishment of a joint venture to
engage in the research and development, design and
manufacture of parts and components for commercial
aircrafts, and provision of related technical services.
According to the JV Agreement, the total registered
capital of the joint venture will be RMB100 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$114 million), of which
40%,
by Sino-Aviation Investments, AVIC International and

15% and 45% respectively, will be contributed

Chengdu Aircraft. The JV Agreement is conditional upon
(i) the internal approval obtained by each of the three
parties; and (ii) the approvals from the relevant PRC
authorities. As at 31 December 2009, the JV Agreement
has not become effective as the conditions stated above
have not been fulfilled.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had given financial
guarantees to banks for banking facilities granted to major
suppliers of HK$68,181,818 (2008: HK$39,592,760)
which were utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$68,181,818 (2008: HK$31,364,819).

39.

40.

ﬁyﬁ (/‘/ 53
Hisz -

RZEENF—ANABA: XA
Al 2 & & W B 2 =lSino-Aviation
Investments Limited ([ Sino-Aviation
Investments]) B AR Q& 2 F 2K
SRR R BB R B BB AR M T3 (%
E) BREEAT ([BCERM]) 5T

Yagha((agmaEl) AK
Y—RKBERF RETARE
THHHE R RBE N
NREHBEERMERR - REa &
W& aE QR ZBFMERG
4$100,000,0007T A K # (48 &

#9114,000,000/% Jt)* H ASino-
Aviation Investments ~ PR fiii £ B B

KK A& 9 B)FE E40% ~ 15%
RA45% - & BB EFA T GREE
REFEER  BEN=FSBES
A BR AL &(u)zé BB
2 - BETTNF+ZA=
+—H8 - AR Ll RREX -
EiZE &M ARER o

B BER

RZZEENF+ZA=+—8"
AEBRBITHTFTEIEHERZ
BT EEMEBRITEDZ ER
68,181,818%8 w (=Z T & N\ F:
39,592,760/ 7T) * EBA 2 FEA
468,181,818 L (Z T T )\ & :
31,364,819/87T) °
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41. BEALIRS
(a) In addition to the transactions described elsewhere (a) BB ERBEMILZR S

S REBRFERGETTIA

in the financial statements, the Group had the

following material transactions with related TERBEALTRS :
parties during the year:
2009 2008
—EZAF —EENE
Notes HK$ HK$
Kt BT BT
Rental income received  UgEUAREFE £ U A
from a shareholder () 133,780 802,680
Minimum lease payments #2151 i K iEF
under operating lease AR AIRE
on land and building Xz &EHEE
paid to a shareholder (i) 144,000 132,000
Net income from REEC1207EH
Project EC120 ZFA (i) 1,718,434 4,221,752
Associates: i l/NT
Interest income on B N F 31T
convertible bonds Al AR (5 5
issued by an associate ZH 2 U A (iv) 485,535 156,000
Interest income on Bk E=YNGIE
loans to associates MERZ
L2 A v) 2,416,799 -
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a) (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company entered into a tenancy agreement
with AVIC International (HK) Group Limited
("AVIC International (HK) Group”), a deemed
shareholder of the Company, on 31 December
2007, to lease the Company’s investment
property to AVIC International (HK) Group at
a monthly rental of HK$66,890 (exclusive of
rates, management fees and air-conditioning
charges) for a term of one year commencing
on 1 January 2008. The rental was determined
with reference to open market rentals.

A supplemental agreement was entered into
between the Company and AVIC International
(HK) Group on 10 December 2008 to extend
the above tenancy agreement to 28 February
2009.

The Company entered into a tenancy agreement
with AVIC International (HK) Group on 25
January 2008 to lease AVIC International
(HK) Group's property at a monthly rental of
HK$12,000 (inclusive of rates and management
fees) for a term of two years commencing on 1
February 2008. The rental was determined with
reference to open market rentals.

Balance represented net cash proceeds received
or receivable from AVIC International generated
from Project EC120. Further details are set out
in note 20 to the financial statements.

The interest income represented interest income
on convertible bonds issued by Sino Gas. Details
of the convertible bonds are set out in notes
21(b) and 21(c) to the financial statements.

Details of loans to associates are set out in note
19 to the financial statements.

31 December 2009 =&=

hWE+=ZA=+—H

41. BEALTRE (&)
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(if)

(iii)
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41. BEALTRXS (&
(continued)
(b)  Other transactions with related parties: (b) EEEATZHMIZS :

(i)

On 14 December 2009, the Company
entered into an agreement with AVIC
International Investment Limited (“AVIC
International Investment”) (formerly
known as Hentak Investment Limited),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of AVIC
International (HK) Group, to dispose of
its entire 100% equity interest in Loyalty
Resources Limited (”Loyalty Resources”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
for a cash consideration of HK$4,400,000.
The principal asset of Loyalty Resources
is an investment in 10% equity interest

in Ningbo Dawn Aerospace Bio-Science

(i)

R-ZZTEZENFE+A
+HAB AQEHEP
MBI (F8) £BZ
& W B R FF i
RIREBR AR ([
MBI E ) (AT =F
ERERARRQA) AT
VW HEARRA
Z & [ B A FlLoyalty
Resources Limited
([Loyalty Resources |)
Z100% M A" - 3B
© X {8 /34,400,0007%
JC ° Loyalty Resources

Developing Co., Ltd., a company CEEEEAHER—
registered in the PRC and engaged in the KR F M /& F
research and development of biological A W) BE on T B R EE
products, with registered share capital of & 7K /340,000,0007T
RMB40,000,000. A gain of HK$100,416 AR ZRAIZERR
was resulted from the disposal. 7 AL R A Y B R
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b) (continued)

(i)

On 14 December 2009, the Company
entered into an agreement with AVIC
International Investment to dispose of
its entire 60% equity interests in each
of Honwin Investment Limited (“Honwin
Investment”) and Teampro Resources
Limited (“Teampro Resources”), both
60%-owned subsidiaries of the Company,
for a total cash consideration of
US$135,270 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,055,106). The principal assets of
Honwin Investment and Teampro Resources
are their respective 80% and 20% equity
interests in CATIC Apartments (T) Limited
("CATIC Apartments”). CATIC Apartments
was established in 2008 for the purpose
of engaging in the construction and
operation of apartment projects in Dar
es salaam, Tanzania, a country in central
East Africa. A gain of HK$1,104,611 was
resulted from the disposal.

31 December 2009 —EZEAE+=-HA=+—H

41. BBEALTRS (&
b (&)

(i) RZEZAFTZA
TIME > KRR EAF
fin B B 12 & 5T 3 1
& LEARRRER
60%HE = 2 Mt B A
ARERBEEARA
Al(EAKRED &
Teampro Resources
Limited ([Teampro
Resources]) 2 %
B & #60%AR & #
wm ReBERER
135,270% 7t (HEF R
#)1,055,106% 7T) °
EE & 1% & KTeampro
Resourcesz £ Z &
ERBREDRFRZ
CATIC Apartments
(T) Limited ([CATIC
Apartments]) 80%
K20%R N #E = e
CATIC Apartmentsi
—EENFEKTL
ERRIFEFEHEKA
REGEZERMEN
BIEE - ZHEEZH
51,104,611 7T °
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41. BEALTRZ (&)
(continued)
(b)  (continued) by (&)

(iii) A 25 B I\ 2275 5
ﬂE'$ AZEA
Bt BB A RLR Y B
ﬁ$Aﬂ2ﬁ%ﬁx
REIR T EZ KB
A A) L 7 R A ZE
(B BRAA ([
#1) KM E B AT
S — R iak A
HEAN—HER+ EH
M EMBRA A
10,000,000 A R ¥
&fg?if%ﬁﬂ,ﬁguu
BB 2Rt mREFER
HEMERTERESR
BRAR ([RIEHR])
Z40% M AN B
& ft {& /&3,056,600
TARE(HERL
3,457,692 Jr) ([Uk
BBl o W B AT - %
56 RF Rt AR 2 A R
B o Rl #E ﬁ4o%
60% = ° —FZF )\
FAA+—BKESR
B 1% - (A& R AR
SEZHBENRAR -

(iii) On 19 June 2008, Helicopter Shenzhen
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement
with Jiangxi Hongdu Aviation Industry
Co, Ltd. (“Hongdu”), a subsidiary of
AVIC, the ultimate holding company of
the Company, and AVIC International,
to purchase from Hongdu 40% equity
interest of Eaglet Aero-Technology Inc.
("Eaglet”), a company registered in the
PRC with registered share capital of
RMB 10,000,000 and principally engaged in
the trading of aviation products, for a cash
consideration of RMB3,056,600 (equivalent
to approximately HK$3,457,692) (the
“Acquisition”). Prior to the Acquisition,
Eaglet was owned as to 40% by Hongdu
and 60% by AVIC International. Upon
completion of the Acquisition on 11
September 2008, Eaglet was accounted
for as an associate of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 =BZ N F+=B=+—H

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41. BEALIRS (&
(continued)
(c) Outstanding balances with related parties: () HHRAEB A T2 RIFELR

(i) Details of the Group’s loans to associates (i) RMEBHK AEE
as at the end of the reporting period mEE R RIRENE
are disclosed in note 19 to the financial K2 EE IR B B TS TR
statements. KHEE 195 EE -

(ii) Details of terms of convertible bonds (ii) B 5 2 7] B 17 ) H AR
issued by an associate are disclosed in BH 2 EHRFBEIHR
notes 21(b) and 21(c) to the financial B 75 2Rk = MY 5E21(b) &
statements. 21() 5= o

(d)  Compensation of key management personnel of (d) AEBEREREEAS ZHRMH
the Group:

2009 2008

—EZAF —EENF

HKS HK$

BT BT

Short term employee benefits RHIEBER 7,050,351 6,553,382

Post-employment benefits EErEN 359,160 334,827

Total compensation paid to YNEEREEEAS

key management personnel 2 RN R 7,409,511 6,888,209
Further details of directors’ emoluments are EHESMe o E—TFFIE
included in note 8 to the financial statements. FHR SRR FES ©
The related party transactions in respect of items (a)(i) F(a)()Z(a)(ii)E & (b) ()2 (b)(ii) I8
to (a)(iii) and (b)(i) to (b)(ii) also constitute connected 2B ANTX G INEKEER S
transactions or continuing connected transactions as HEREXS (FER TTHAE
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 14AF) o
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 42. €T EDE
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of MIERR SHeRmITAKREE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting T
period are as follows:
2009
= s 25
Group
AEH
Financial assets
B EE
Financial
assets at fair
value through Available-
profit or for-sale
loss - held Loans and financial
for trading receivables assets Total
EhEs
RATESIE
WEHEE - EAR AHEEN
BFEE ERFE BHEE &5t
HKS HK$ HK$ HK$
BT AT BT AT
Financial asset under Project EC120 EC12038 8 Z M5 EE - - 3,459,462 3,459,462
Available-for-sale investments A ERRE - - 63,284,434 63,284,434
Trade and bills receivables EREFETRER - 32,488,155 - 32,488,155
Loans to associates MBS N ARENER - 95,027,703 - 95,027,703
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATENIE - K4 R
deposits and other receivables Hit RS REE - 65,559,363 - 65,559,363
Derivative financial instrument TESRTE 23,794,178 - - 23,794,178
Pledged time deposits BEREAET - 45,051,137 - 45,051,137
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkRLER - 330,478,651 - 330,478,651
23,794,178 568,605,009 66,743,896 659,143,083
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31 December 2009 —=ZEhEFE+=A=+—H

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 42. ERMITEDE (&)
CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of REHR SEeRTEERE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting W (&)

period are as follows: (continued)

2009
ZE2EEAF
Group
AEH
Financial liabilities
g =N
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
Ei7g: £
SIME®
BKAE
HKS$
ET
Trade and bills payables B E SRR RER 112,698,176
Financial liabilities included in other payables 5+ A E fth fE <t Z0 I8 &
and accruals EErERNTSasE 17,953,128
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITER 28,409,091
159,060,395
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 42. sRMIEDE (&)
CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of R|EMRR SEeRITAEKREE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting W (&)

period are as follows: (continued)

2008
—ZTENF
Group
REHE
Financial assets
WG EE
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
Xk A E
FEW IR NHEE Gl
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial asset under Project EC120 EC120EE 28I EE - 9,459,462 9,459,462
Available-for-sale investments AEHERNRE = 62,763,733 62,763,733
Deposit for acquisition of YR AR Re
an investment 61,165,927 - 61,165,927
Financial assets included in deposits FARE REAM
and other receivables BRI BT IS B E 20,466,063 - 20,466,063
Trade and bills receivables EWESETREE 46,772,014 - 46,772,014
Loan to an associate & A R R ENE T 9,048,000 = 9,048,000
Financial assets included in FTATBAUR - RE R
prepayments, deposits and Hio R MBI B EE
other receivables 34,770,208 = 34,770,208
Pledged time deposits BERAERER 53,671,663 - 53,671,663
Cash and cash equivalents HeRkBEL%E 350,734,518 - 350,734,518

576,628,393 72,223,195 648,851,588
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ber 2009 —ZZEEAEFE+=-A=+—H

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 42. EWMIBEDHE (&)
CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RIERR SHeRITAKREE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting W (F)

period are as follows: (continued)

2008
—ZEENF
Group
NEE
Financial liabilities
W% aE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
TREESHR AR
FIMERY
MBEaRE
HK$
BT
Trade and bills payables BB SRR RER 117,624,859
Financial liabilities included in other payables &t A E fth fE - 3778 &
and accruals EETERANTBaE 4,841,979
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER 29,411,765
151,878,603

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZNFEFH 179



Notes to Financial Statements &1 7 3 3% i 5

31 December 2009 ZZEZEAFE+=-"A=+—H

42.
CATEGORY (continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

42. SRTES S (&)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of R|EHR - SRR TAKREE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting T (&)
period are as follows: (continued)
Company
b /NE|
Financial assets
MBEE
2009 2008
“EENE “ET)\E
Available- Available-
for-sale for-sale
Loans and financial Loans and financial
receivables assets Total  receivables assets Total
ERR  AHEED ERR  AHHES
e BBEE fit FelFIE BIBEE At
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
V-7 V-7 V-7 V-7 V-7 V-7
Due from subsidiaries EWHBARITE 701,329,876 - 701,329,876 682,856,674 - 682,856,674
Available-for-sale investments [ { #0154 - 2,680,300 2,680,300 - - -
Deposit for acquisition of ~ WEREHKRS
an investment - - - 16,281,979 - 16,281,979
Loans to an associate Mk R ARENER 31,048,000 - 31,048,000 9,048,000 - 9,048,000
Financial assets included in s AFRFE ke R
prepayments, deposits and At EEZTE
other receivables HBEE 2,774,816 - 2,774,816 1,718,287 - 1,718,287
Cash and cash equivalents ~ BeRBEEEE 94,067,581 - 94,067,581 157,648,952 - 157,648,952
829,220,273 2,680,300 831,900,573 867,553,892 - 867,553,892
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43,

Notes to Financial Statements B} %% 5 3% Mt &

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows: (continued)

Company
¥iNUNC|
Financial liabilities

MBaE

31 December 2009 —EZEAE+=-HA=+—H

42. SRITEYE (&

RBEEHR SEeWTAKEE
T (&)

2009 2008
—BERF —EENF
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at

amortised cost

amortised cost

R RHHERA

SIfER SIMERY

MBEE HHRE

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Due to subsidiaries ARl IENGIE S 43,131,904 67,911,562

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities

fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which all inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are observable, either directly or indirectly

fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which all inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs)

43. RFESRHEE

REB A TS E RS EEE M
BEMIAZAFE:

Fh—

RIFHEREEXBERE

FH=:

FER=

B 56 W E R R)
HEZATE

REGHERM (HFERA
FEREARENE RS
ASBHTERAMEE
=E)FFENAFE

RE[HERM (BIEA
FEEERFENTRE
ASBUFARBEDS
BEXFE (TAIBES
ASR)) FTENRAYE -
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43,

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (continued) 43. NP EERFHEE (&Z)
As at 31 December 2009, the Group held the following NE=ZFEhFLFf=HB=+—H ' &
financial instruments measured at fair value: EEREATHNALEES SN
B[
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December R-BFAE+—A=+-—-BUA
2009: FEFENEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
IR 5 £ =
HKS HKS HKS HKS$
B B BT B
Available-for-sale investments: AEEERRE :
Debt investments EBZE 4,853,027 25,200,663 - 30,053,690
Derivative financial instruments TEEmTA - 23,794,178 - 23,794,178
4,853,027 48,994,841 - 53,847,868
As at 31 December 2009, the Company held the RZZBEZBAFT-_A=+—H ' &
following financial instruments measured at fair value: RAFBE TINARFEFENEH
TA:
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December R-ZEBEZAEF+-A=+—HUA
2009: $1EE+EE’9§E
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ — EH/= EHh= |5t
HKS$ HKS HKS$ HKS
BT BT BT BT
Available-for-sale investments: a] f H & fy#% &
Debt investments BEBRE 2,680,300 = - 2,680,300

During the year ended 31 December 2009, there were
no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1
and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.
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Notes to Financial Statements B & 3 3k M 5%
31 December 2009 —=ZEhE+=A=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group'’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise bank loans and cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities, such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s foreign currency exposures primarily arise
from certain sales or purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. In
view of the fact that the Group tries to match its assets
and liabilities with the same currency, the Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.

44,

BEREEEERBE

AEENETEEETE (MIEITE)
BRERRTERRBSREREFR -
HETRTENEIERER/ASE
BeEERHETIR  AKETE S
BENEMMBEERAE  fla0fE
WESERARBNESER  HE
BEHREEMEL -

AEENTRITAMELANEER
pRIERR  EERR  RBM
RakkERR ZBEECERHL
B E RS FREERA K - S
T e

SN EE L B2
AEENIINERRERELOEE
BUMETAZEMDEEE AN
MEBEBETHHERRE - £
RAEEZINERRAEENEER
BERS AL AKEMAZHIN
PE EL R AR o
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44.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, pledged
time deposits, available-for-sale financial assets, deposits
and other receivables, a derivative financial instrument,
and loans to related parties arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments. The Group is also
exposed to credit risk through the granting of financial
guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in note
40 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases
of the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in
different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’'s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills
receivables are disclosed in note 25 to the financial
statements.
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AEBERERTHREBRTY
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BACERITEE- B4 ALH
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AEBHEHBMBEE (BERRAE R

ReSE BWEHER AIfH
ENMHEE B MEMBEKRER

FoTEERMIARMBAEALR
HOEF) NEERR - DhX5H
TEAMEL  AERBRUZEFT

AWEEERR AEBETFEEH

MEERmMERESERR E—%

BRI HRRMFA0HWE -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank loans and finance leases. The Group's policy is to
minimise borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

44,

MRREEEEREE
(&

BN

AEENBEREERDRE TAS
2ETRREAR ZTAGESR
TAMMBEE (MERE SRR
MBEEREREEEELENRS
e
AEENERLREBMARTE
AEBMEHEARTRENTENLE
MEEHENFE  AEENRKE
EEERE&E -

RBEHAR  REEERBERTAE
AR AR M B EESNRE RN
N

Group
rEE
2009
“BEAE
3 to less
Less than than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
Z@EANE
ROR
REXE SR=EA TR CEH
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B B BT A
Trade and bills payables ERNESEDINEE - 64,378,237 48,319,939 112,698,176
Other payables HAbENZIE - 17,953,128 - 17,953,128
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it BBTER - 17,045,455 11,363,636 28,409,091
- 99,376,820 59,683,575 159,060,395
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

+-8

44,

M AREEEBREE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (&
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REMRRE ()
2008
—ETN\E
3 to less
Less than than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
=EANE
RO
REXE  PR=EA +=f@A Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Trade and bills payables ERESERRER - 115,860,322 1,764,537 117,624,859
Other payables H b 708 - 4,841,979 - 4,841,979
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SFRRTER - 11,312,217 18,099,548 29,411,765
- 132,014,518 19,864,085 151,878,603
Company
ARAF
2009
—BELF
3 to less
Less than than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
=EARLE
ST
REXKE 2PR=EA +=@A |t
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
BT BT BT BT
Due to subsidiaries R EPNGIE e 43,131,904 - - 43,131,904
2008
—ZENF
3 to less
Less than than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
=EARE
ROR
REfRE PR=EA +=18AR G
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Due to subsidiaries FETHT B A R A 67,911,562 - - 67,911,562
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31 December 2009 =ZBZ N F+=B=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of financial
instruments decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from the
New Embedded Derivative Asset included in derivative
financial instruments (note 27) as at 31 December
2009.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group was only exposed
to equity price risk arising from the Old Embedded
Derivative Asset and the fair value of the Old Embedded
Derivative Asset was stated at nil. Therefore, in the
opinion of the directors, the Group’s exposure to equity
price risk arising from the Old Embedded Derivative
Asset was minimal as at 31 December 2008.

The market equity indices for the Stock Exchange, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year

44,

MRREEEEREE
(&

IR B =B

P (8 L e BV A e 3R 45 SR F K AE Bl
EFBEEEHMESHM T AR FE
BRENERR - R-ZZAF+_H
=t—H AEEAXFATES
BMITR (BF27) QFHRARITEER
EMELZRERE -

R-BENF+_HA=+—HB" ' &
SEEAXERAANTEEEME
EZBRERR  MERARNITLEER
EVNTRAET -At EXFRR 1
—TENF+ZRA=1+—H &%
ERERAATEEEMEEZR
EBRRTK -

FARKAOREHRR H B K HE
BRI ERERBILERFALZ

to the end of the reporting period, and their respective Bim REEHEAT
highest and lowest points during the year were as
follows:
31 December High/low 31 December High/low
2009 B/ 2008 5/
“EBnE 2009 ZEEN\E 2008
t=B=t-H “BRAE t-R=t-H “E2R)\E
Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index B — BAEEEH 21,873 22,944/11,345 14,387 27,616/11,016
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
1% change in the fair values of the underlying equity
investments for the derivative financial instrument, with
all other variables held constant and before any impact
on tax, based on their carrying amounts at 31 December

44,

MEREREEEREE
(/8

RERR (&)

TREBIR_FBFEAF+_R=+
—H - ERMEHEMAERRERT
FHPMHREAZENGERET £
TEERTAZEBERAREZR
HE EQATFESESD %N HE

2009. e
Increase/
(decrease)
in percentage Carrying
of fair value amount Increase/
of underlying of derivative (decrease)
equity financial in profit
investment instruments before tax”
HERAE
REATFE T4
Bl SRMIA BADRF
#m,/ (HD) REE #m/(HP)
% HKS$ HKS$
AR B B
2009 —TTHhEF
Unlisted investments at fair value: FLTIRE  RATE:
- Derivative financial asset —TEMBEE 1 23,794,178 386,568
(1) (691,386)
* Excluding retained earnings * NEEEFEH
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Notes to Financial Statements B} &5 3% Mt &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2009 and
31 December 2008.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is bank borrowings divided by the equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent. Management considers a
gearing ratio of not more than 40% as reasonable. The

31 December 2009 —EZEAEFE+=-HA=+—H

44, BRI EREBERBUER
(42

BEXER
AEBEAEENEERR  /E
REAEEABEFEERNEN B
HRIRRBROBERLLE  UHEE
BEME - FRSEAKNBREE -

AEERELEBANES TE
HEREBAFHAE - BEFX
HAEEAER  AKEAEERK
RIRFEBE - RBRRIKE & A 3%
TTHE - NEENE X H R[S
MEMZERT R - BE_FZTAN
F+_A=+—BERZZEZNF+
“A=T-HLFER EAEHE
ZBIR - BEREAR P A o

AEBUERBEL X (RITERE
UARIESRBARIGH#ERD) BiITE
KEH)ER - EERERRTEBI0%
HKOMEABBLEXRBAE - S

gearing ratios as at the ends of the reporting periods HRZERBRLENT
were as follows:
Group
AEE
2009 2008
—BEAF ZZEENF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ERITER 28,409,091 29,411,765
Equity attributable to equity holders A &l#EzisH AEGHEZ
of the parent 955,455,199 919,058,277
Gearing ratio EAREFEL R 3% 3%

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2010.

45. BrERzR2H#E

BBRERER _ZE-TF=A_+
hAEEESHERTER -
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Five Year Financial Summary i & B =

The table set out below summarises the results and the assets,
liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the Group’s published
consolidated financial statements of the respective years and
restated/reclassified as appropriate. This summary is not part of
the audited financial statements.

TREJIAEENEERLBMRFE XS
REE  AERVBRREDME - TR
BAKEERFEE 2D hREMERE

WEBH EHHHE (MERA) -

FRE BRI TR 2 BB o

Year ended 31 December
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2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
“EEAE —TINE —TET+FE —TTXF —TTHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
RESULTS £
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HEKE XK
Revenue Yz 228,759 260,292 195,088 172,045 157,714
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B4 A A 37,086 18,673 57,754 35,176 19,645
Income tax expense IR (12,380) (8,415) (4,594) (2,452) (3,680)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM FFERL & XK 2 NEEF|
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 24,706 10,258 53,160 32,724 15,965
DISCONTINUED OPERATION ERILEEXK
Profit for the year from BRIERERBL
a discontinued operation REFF - - 30,342 18,379 14,023
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR RERF 24,706 10,258 83,502 51,103 29,988
Attributable to: TH AL :
Equity holders of the parent ~ ARIEZFRAA 23,772 1,852 77,996 47,950 26,054
Minority interests DERR 934 8,406 5,506 3,153 3,934
24,706 10,258 83,502 51,103 29,988
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND ¥E - BERIE
MINORITY INTERESTS Y
Total assets BERE 1,198,611 1,152,306 1,164,204 1,108,772 948,227
Total liabilities BfEeE (177,728)  (164,243)  (208,241)  (483,975)  (442,305)
Minority interests DR (65,428) (69,005) (33,046) (33,073) (34,071)
955,455 919,058 922,917 591,724 471,851
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DIRECTORS
Wu Guangquan (Chairman)

Ji Guirong (Deputy Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer)

Liu Rongchun

Pan Linwu

Zhang Chuanjun

Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond*
Chu Yu Lin, David**

Li Ka Fai, David**

Li Zhaoxi**
* Non-executive Director
* Independent Non-executive Directors

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chu Yu Lin, David
Li Ka Fai, David
Li Zhaoxi

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Wu Guangquan
Chu Yu Lin, David
Li Ka Fai, David

COMPANY SECRETARY

Leung Yuen Chee, Sara

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited

Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

SOLICITORS
Baker & McKenzie

Corporate Information 2 7 & !
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Corporate Information 2 7 &%l

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton, HM12, Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

Unit B, 15th Floor,
United Centre,

95 Queensway,
Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRARS

Principal registrars

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited

Hong Kong registrars

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,

Hong Kong
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Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton, HM12, Bermuda
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